ROLE OF CIRCULAR EXERCISE ON FORELIMB LOADING AND ACCOMPANYING SKELETAL AND JOINT ADAPTATIONS

By

Alyssa A. Logan

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Animal Science – Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

ROLE OF CIRCULAR EXERCISE ON FORELIMB LOADING AND ACCOMPANYING SKELETAL AND JOINT ADAPTATIONS

By

Alyssa A. Logan

Circular exercise is used frequently in equine exercise and competition, but little is known of the impact circular diameter and gait have to the joint and bone health of the forelimb. The first study evaluated the impact of circle diameter (10-m and 15-m) and gait to the forelimb solar outputs of average surface area, vertical force, and average pressure. Nine horses exercised in a straight line and in a round pen while wearing the Tekscan Hoof SystemTM on both front hooves with a glue-on shoe, a method of adherence which was determined to be reliable when measurements were recorded within one session. Gait, and not circle diameter, impacted forelimb outputs, with the average loaded area of the outside hoof while circling, being greatest at the canter (P = 0.001). While exercising on both a large and small circle, the outside hoof had greater vertical force at the canter than the trot (P = 0.01). A second study utilizing calves as a model for juvenile horses allowed the determination of physiological responses to circular exercise. Calves were assigned to small circle exercise (12 m), large circle exercise (18 m), treadmill exercise, or non-exercised control treatments (n = 6). Computed tomography and biomarkers were evaluated to determine impacts to bone and joint health. The inside leg of the small circular exercise group had larger dorsopalmar external diameter than the outside (P = 0.05). The medial proximal phalanx had greater mediolateral diameter than the lateral proximal phalanx of the small circle group (P = 0.01). Cartilage glycosaminoglycan concentration was greater in the outside leg of the small circle exercise treatment than the inside leg (P = 0.03). Combined, both of these studies suggest that circular exercise diameter and gait can impact animal health and should be considered when performing circular exercise.

Copyright by ALYSSA A. LOGAN 2022 This thesis is dedicated to all who have supported me in my academic and equine careers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I thank all who have been part of the Spartan Equine Research Lab since I began my Master's in 2017. As colleagues and advisors, you have made these graduate degrees an educational and always exciting experience. Dr. Nielsen, I can never thank you enough for accepting me as a graduate student and providing career advice before I ever attended graduate school. Cara, your statistical advice, and creative brainstorming are incredible, I couldn't have put together any of my manuscripts without you! My Ph.D. committee, your advice and support have been so helpful to me at every stage of this degree.

To all the horse providers: dmb Performance Horses, MSU HTRC, Cara Robison, Dr. Nielsen, and of course my own Jetta. Thank you so much for your time in bringing horses to the Pavilion and handling your horses on study days. The Beef Farm and Meat Lab staff, I have never seen such an efficient, hard-working, and well-humored group of people! I am so thankful for your flexible schedules and willingness to deal with our odd requests in exercising calves. With the development of the Bennett Rd. farm, it seems like it is only just the beginning of these collaborations. To all the students who have helped on studies or have been in classes I have taught, thank you for being fantastic inspiration! I wish each and every one of you the best of luck in the rest of your education and subsequent careers.

Now for the personal acknowledgements. Of course, the first is Boomer. Everyday you support my career, and I am beyond thankful for that. Thank you for being the biggest advocate of my professional goals since the day we began a relationship. I simply could not be where I am today without your support. A huge plus is your engineering expertise and willingness to advise on mechanical testing. Engineering and Animal Science go quite well together! Mom and Dad,

V

thank you not only for supporting me, but at a young age teaching me skills of organization, communication, and empathy which have helped me so much in academia. Joey, thank you for being the person who I can always laugh and relax with. Somehow we both seem to be up late studying or working and know just when to send the right funny ground hog video. I am so proud of you and cannot wait to see where your engineering endeavors take you.

Thank you to all the friends and family who showed interest in my studies and truly listened. Quinn, I am so ridiculously glad that our graduate studies brought us both back to the state of Michigan. I cannot imagine what graduate school would look like without my best friend! Wherever our next positions take us, I know we will still see each other, and hopefully get more saddle time together. Having you at the barn was an absolute joy. Dustin, thank you for providing me an opportunity I didn't even know I could have. I am so thankful for your professional guidance on training, coaching and judging. The industry part of my studies has always been so important to me. You truly understood this, and I am forever grateful for the opportunity to train under you and with you during the last two years of my graduate degree. My only regret is that I didn't get started earlier!

Newton and Oreo, my constant writing companions at my feet, on my lap, or under the blanket. Thank you for comfort, laughs, and reminders to take a break and get some fresh air. Jetta, our time together has spanned 15 years. I am so glad that you are still in my life and even got to take part in one of my studies. Solo, thank you for giving me the opportunity to put academic knowledge into practice. This entire graduate career has been one heck of a ride, and I have loved every minute of it. The cold early mornings, and hot summer days in the sun were well worth it, and I truly look back on those days fondly.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER 1: Review of Literature	1
BACKROUND OF CIRCULAR EXERCISE	1
CIRCULAR EXERCISE IN HUMANS AND OUADRUPEDS	2
CIRCLE RADIUS AND GAITS	5
CIRCULAR EXERCISE UNDER SADDLE	7
INITIRIES	10
IMPROVEMENTS	12
CHAPTER 2: Evaluation of within- and between- session reliability of the Tekscan TM Hoof	
System with a glue-on shoe	15
CHAPTER 3: Impact of gait and diameter during circular exercise on front hoof area, vertica	ıl
force. and pressure in mature horses	16
SIMPLE SUMMARY	
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	17
MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
Horses	21
Hoof Preparation and Sensors	21
Evercice	
Data Analysis	25
Statistical Analysis	25
	23 26
RESULTS	20
Dataset without Canter	20
Loaded Hooi Area.	26
Vertical Force	26
Front Hoof Pressure	27
Dataset without Straight-line Exercise	28
Loaded Hoof Area	28
Vertical Force	29
Front Hoof Pressure	30
DISCUSSION	31
CONCLUSION	37
CHAPTER 4: The impact of circular exercise diameter on bone and joint health of juvenile	
animals	38
SIMPLE SUMMARY	38
ABSTRACT	38

INTRODUCTION					
MATERIALS AND METHODS					
Animals, housing, and exercise					
Sample collection					
Computed tomography scans					
Biomechanical testing					
Osteocalcin					
C-telopeptide crosslaps of type I collagen					
Procollagen II c-propeptide					
Prostaglandin E ₂ & Nitric oxide					
Glycosaminoglycan					
Statistical analysis					
RESULTS					
Fused MC III & IV CT scan results					
Medial and lateral proximal phalanx CT scan results	51				
Fracture force of MC III & IV					
Average serum OC	55				
Average serum CTX-1					
Average serum CPII					
Fetlock synovial fluid NO					
Carpal synovial fluid NO					
Fetlock synovial fluid PGE ₂	60				
Carpal synovial fluid PGE ₂	61				
Cartilage glycosaminoglycan content					
DISCUSSION	63				
CONCLUSIONS	69				
APPENDIX	70				
CHAPTER 5: Overall discussion and conclusions	74				
LITERATURE CITED	77				

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Horse details—forelimb calibration weights used for the Tekscan Hoof System and front hoof measurements used to accurately assign front hoof glue-on shoe size for each horse23
Table 2: Mean area loaded on the front hooves for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by exercise type in the dataset excluding canter
Table 3: Mean front hoof vertical force in Newtons (N) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by exercise type in the dataset excluding canter
Table 4: Mean front hoof pressure by leg in kilopascals (kPa) for nine horses with each gaitrepeated three times per exercise type for the dataset excluding canter28
Table 5: Mean front hoof pressure in kilopascals (kPa) for nine horses with each gait repeated threetimes by exercise type for the dataset excluding canter
Table 6: Mean area loaded on the front hooves for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by gait for the dataset excluding straight-line exercise
Table 7: Mean front hoof vertical force in Newtons (N) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by gait for the dataset excluding straight-line exercise
Table 8: Mean front hoof pressure in kilopascal (kPa) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by gait for the dataset excluding straight-line exercise
Table 9: Exercise protocol for treadmill, small circle, and large circle treatment group
Table 10: Initial (d 0) and final (d 48) calf height, weight, and length by treatment
Table 11: Bone length of the right and left metacarpal III & IV (MC III & IV) by treatment51
Table 12: Internal (int) and external (ext) cortical diameters of the lateral and medial proximal phalanx of both front legs 52
Table 13: Cortical bone mineral density of the lateral and medial proximal phalanx of left and right legs 54
Table 14: Cortical widths of the lateral and medial proximal phalanx of left and right front limbs
Table 15: Fracture force of calf MC III & IV by treatment and leg 55
Table 16: Average Glycosaminoglycan concentration in cartilage slices from the proximal surface of the MC III & IV by treatment and leg 63

Table S1: Calf height, weight, and length expressed throughout the weekly measurements71

Table S2: Internal (int) and external (ext) dorsopalmar and mediolateral diameters as well as moment of inertia (MOI) from cross-sectional views at the midpoint of fused metacarpal III & IV of left and right front legs
Table S3: Cortical and midpoint slice bone density of metacarpal III & IV (MC III & IV) of left and right front legs 72
Table S4: Cortical widths at midpoint of the metacarpal III & IV (MC III & IV) of left and right front legs 72
Table S5: Dorsal, lateral, medial, and palmar cortical widths of the metacarpal III & IV separated by left and right leg 73

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Tekscan TM outputs of Force vs. Time with a horse trotting in a straight line
Figure 2: Tekscan TM outputs of Force vs. Time with a horse cantering to the left in a 10-m circle
Figure 3: Calf mean serum osteocalcin (OC) by treatment throughout the 7-week study period
Figure 4: Calf mean serum C-telopeptide crosslaps of type I collagen (CTX-1) by treatment throughout the 7-week study period
Figure 5: Calf mean procollagen II c-propeptide (CPII) by treatment throughout the 7-week study period
Figure 6: Log transformed average nitric oxide (NO) concentration in the lateral and medial fetlock joints by treatment
Figure 7: Log transformed average nitric oxide (NO) concentration in the middle carpal and radiocarpal joints
Figure 8: Average prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) concentration in lateral and medial fetlock joints 61
Figure 9: Average prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) concentration in middle carpal and radiocarpal joints
Figure S1: Equation utilized to calculate bone mineral density (BMD) of values measured in computed tomography (CT) scans

CHAPTER 1: Review of Literature

BACKGROUND OF CIRCULAR EXERCISE

The use of circular exercise is frequent in equine populations, both under-saddle and on the ground via lunging or a round pen. During early training, horses are often exercised in a circular manner in a round pen or by lunging [1,2]. Some disciplines of riding, such as dressage, reining, and barrel racing use circular exercise during training and competition throughout a horse's career. Thoroughbred and Standardbred racehorses also perform circular exercise as they travel around a turn while racing as well as training. When surveyed, 50% of Thoroughbred trainers in Victoria, Australia indicated the use of a mechanical horse walker as an alternative exercise method to overground workouts [3]. Lunging with and without lunging aids, and the use of walkers are also found in many rehabilitation protocols [4,5].

In lameness evaluations, a higher proportion of lameness can be found while utilizing lunging on hard or soft surfaces compared to straight lines [6]. In fact, it may be difficult to discriminate between lameness, and inherent gait asymmetry caused by trotting in a tight circle during lameness evaluations [7,8]. While circular exercise is commonly used, most of the industry is unaware of potential negative impacts it can have on joint health. Anecdotal evidence suggests a connection between circular exercise and lameness. When being exercised in a circle, horses will lean into the continuous turns up to 20° to maintain balance [9,10]. As speed increases and radius decreases, lean angle will also become more severe [11]. Due to the reduced surface area of the hoof that is loaded, uneven forces may be placed on joints and bones of the fore and hind limbs during circular exercise [9]. These uneven forces exerted on a smaller surface area have the potential to lead to a higher risk for joint injury and osteoarthritis.

CIRCULAR EXERCISE IN HUMANS AND QUADRUPEDS

There are limited equine studies evaluating circular exercise. However, human exercise studies evaluating running on a curve are plentiful. When running around a curve, the inside and outside limbs of humans are not biomechanically symmetrical, and have different functions [12,13]. When running around an un-banked curve the inside leg has lower peak ground reaction force than the outside leg, which has increased ground reaction force. Speed is found to be slower when sprinting around a curve compared to sprinting in a straight line [12]. In both male and female athletes, race times for the 200-m sprint are slower on indoor tracks than outdoor tracks. When straight aways and curves of indoor and outdoor tracks were evaluated, it was found that athletes were slower on curves of the indoor tracks compared to outdoor tracks. The authors attribute this difference in race times to the notably smaller curve radii of indoor tracks [14].

In humans, the outside leg plays an important role in changing the direction of travel while running through a curve, as the outside leg generates larger centripetal force, thus pushing the runner through the direction change [13]. Within a cohort of college students, those with larger cross-sectional area to the psoas major of the outside leg compared to the inside leg were able to run faster around a circle of 23-m radius [15]. Not only does the presence of a curve impact runners, so does the sharpness of a curve. Running on a sharply curved track (5-m radius) leads to greater torsion on the inside tibia compared to running on a gently curved track (15-m) or a straight line [16]. As circle radius decreases, peak resultant ground reaction forces to the inside leg leg decrease compared to the outside leg [12].

Quadrupeds, such as horses, may be at an advantage during curve running, as they can redistribute weight to multiple stance legs within a stride. It has been found that while cantering

in a 10-m circle, horses will have greater peak ground reaction force on the outside forelimb compared to the inside forelimb [17]. At the trot, a two beat diagonal gait, horses have been found to have decreased loading when the inside foreleg and outside hindleg are in stance, compared to a push-off pattern for the outer limbs [18]. While traveling around a curve, Thoroughbred race horses experience greater strain to the outside forelimb, which is increased as speed increases [19]. In both humans and horses, the outside limb while sprinting through a curve is known to generate more vertical and lateral force than the inside limb, to serve as a push-off limb [11].

When speed is held constant between a straight line and a curve, stride duration and subsequently stride length, are seen to increase when horses travel around a curve compared to a straight line. With training, this increase in stride duration around a curve is seen to decrease, potentially through familiarity via training and neuromuscular adaptation [20]. In humans, step frequency will decrease as the radius of a curve decreases, leading to a decreased velocity. Given this, during track races the individuals running in the innermost lane may be at a disadvantage as they are running a tighter radius [21].

As travel around a curve is performed, forces are exerted in many directions, not just the vertical force of the limb interacting with the area loaded directly underneath the foot or hoof [22]. Lateral forces are responsible for propulsion, while transverse forces are responsible for turning. Vertical, lateral, and transverse ground reaction forces are frequently captured with a force-plate embedded into a surface and kinematic data captured with a camera system [23–25]. The use of an embedded force plate is difficult for gait analysis on a curve, especially at high speeds such as while racing. Compared to bipedal sprinters, such as humans, quadrupeds are

estimated to be superior at curve running due to their ability to have more than one stance leg or push-off leg during a stride.

Another quadruped which is known for track racing is the greyhound. The majority of racing injuries in New Zealand racing greyhounds are localized to the limbs (83%), with overall injury rate increasing with age. Nearly 50% of injuries occur while the greyhound is running on a bend, with 17% occurring on a straight section of track [26]. Track design is a significant factor to greyhound injury rate, dogs are more likely to injure themselves in the first turn of an oval track, due to congestion and contact between dogs, as well as high speed of travel while exiting the straight-away and entering the turn [26,27]. Some tracks closely resemble a circular track and do not have dramatic curves like a traditional oval track with a long straight-away. These circular tracks are predicted to have a lower injury rate due to the lack of a sharp curve between a straight-away and the start of a turn [28]. While greyhound racing and horse racing have unique characteristics, it is worth noting that the presence of running on a curve leads to injuries in both species.

It has been hypothesized that horses handle traveling in a circle similar to the adjustments they make in response to lameness on a straight line; horses counteract uncomfortable limb loading with asymmetrical movement which redistributes limb loading [7]. Stride length of the inside leg is shorter than the outside leg at both the walk and canter when lunging on a 10-m circle [29]. Horses will lean into the circle in which they are traveling, with the lean increasing with speed and smaller radii. Body lean may also be increased when a lame forelimb is on the inside of the circle, with lameness score also increasing [8,30]. Level of training can also impact lean angle, as a well-trained horse acclimated to traveling on a circle can travel more upright than a horse which is not acclimated to traveling in a circle or bend. This has especially been

noted in dressage, where trained horses are able to travel "on the bit", while an inexperienced horse may not be able to maintain bit contact and engage the topline and hindlimb musculature through a circle [8].

For dressage horses, lunging has been found as "protective" against lameness, while time on a walker is associated with lameness [31]. In dressage, lunging is typically done with a horse in a bridle and surcingle, allowing a skilled handler to encourage a horse to travel on a lunge line in a more-upright position and in larger circles. These animals frequently exercise under saddle in the same size and speeds as they are exercised on the lunge line, so for dressage horses, lunging is often similar to ridden exercise. Horses exercised freely on a mechanical walker may have more lean than those lunged in surcingle, the walker may have a relatively smaller radius, and the horses are often unsupervised on a walker. Walkers are also often used during injury rehabilitation and recovery, which may be a confounding factor in the association between walker use and lameness.

CIRCLE RADIUS AND GAITS

Horses can utilize many gaits to travel, most common are the walk, trot, canter, and gallop. The walk is a symmetrical gait with a lateral sequence of footfalls having no suspension. The trot is a symmetrical, two-beat diagonal gait with suspension. Unlike the walk and trot, the canter is an asymmetrical gait characterized by three beats with a suspension phase after lift-off of the leading forelimb [32]. At the canter, horses will move with a protracted leading limb through greater flexion of the elbow and hip joints [33]. When canter speed increases to the gallop, the diagonal pairs become dissociated, leading to a four-beat gait [32]. While galloping, a horse will propel itself over the single lead limb, with the lead limb sustaining a greater load than at a symmetrical gait, such as the trot [34]. A four-beat lope has also been noted in western-style horses [35]. This style of lope is much slower than that of a four beat gallop is not currently preferable in performance, but is found frequently among the western stock-horse population, especially during lunging.

In both human and equine runners, the radius of a curve has been found to impact movement characteristics. When trotting in a small circle with a radius of 1.8 m, horses can travel with a lean-in angle of up to 20°. Overall, decreasing circle radius and increasing speed will lead to an increased body lean-in angle [9,36]. During Thoroughbred racing, injuries are most likely to occur when running around a curve than on a straight section of track [11]. Dirt tracks with tighter turn radii have a higher risk for right (outside) forelimb fractures, while the left (inside) forelimb is at a lower risk for fracture while racing at the tightest radii on dirt tracks, potentially due to the increased centripetal force on the outside limb providing propulsive and turning forces during a tight turn at high speed [37].

Yearling Quarter Horses in training for lunge-line classes typically travel at slower speeds than that of English-style lunging. A study evaluating the response in serum osteocalcin and keratin sulfate of lunging in a large circle while preparing for lunge-line classes found that lunging did not significantly alter osteocalcin or keratin sulfate concentrations compared to animals exercised on a mechanical walker [38]. Unfortunately, this study did not include a straight-line exercise group for comparison. The characteristic slow speeds and large circle size during preparation for a stock-horse lunge-line class may not have elicited changes in the studied markers, but other non-studied markers or bone characteristics determinable by radiographs may have been impacted. Alternatively, higher speeds and smaller circle size would be expected to lead to greater lean-in angle during travel, potentially leading to bone and joint health biomarker responses suggesting joint damage.

Combining both variability in circle diameter as well as gait of travel, can lead to unique conditions of circular exercise. For example, lean-in angle had been found to be 12° on average at the trot and 19° at the canter [39]. Lean-in angle most likely occurs to prevent a horse from falling over during circular exercise, and to align the limbs with resultant forces to avoid excessive torque to joints [39]. Understanding that decreased circle diameter and increased speed lead to greater body lean-in angle, can aid in clarity towards conditions which may be detrimental to the horse [9,36].

CIRCULAR EXERCISE UNDER SADDLE

Movement asymmetry has been found, even in sound horses, when exercising in a circular motion at the rising trot. The technique of the posting trot should be taken into account, as one half of the stride the rider is sitting down in the saddle, while the other half they are posting out of the saddle [18]. When riding the trot in a sitting position, the rider's weight is parallel between the two diagonals. However, when posting the trot, the horse's back is unloaded during the rising part of the post. During the sitting part of the post, weight is distributed very similar to the sitting trot [32]. It is worth noting that the experience, balance, and confidence of the rider could impact an observed asymmetry during the posting trot on a circle.

Unpublished data in the Spartan Equine Research lab found that when ridden by a professional rider, a horse has more consistent force output of the forelimbs and lower average force output compared to being worked in-hand (Figure 1 and 2). This has been noted both on a straight line and in circular exercise. The lower force output of the forelimbs with the presence of a professional rider may be due to the fact that a professional rider is able encourage a horse to transfer weight to the haunches [32]. A study evaluating sacroiliac joint pain in horses found that when ridden, horses were less likely to canter on the incorrect lead in the hindlimbs than when

lunged, potentially because a rider can to encourage the horse to stay balanced and maintain its lead better than lunging [40]. A study evaluating movement symmetry differences at the trot between ridden and non-ridden reining Quarter Horses found that with an experienced rider, wither and pelvic parameters were more symmetrical when ridden. The more-movement for western riders may be due to the fact that the western jog is ridden in a sitting position, with no asymmetrical posting [41].

Figure 1: TekscanTM outputs of Force vs. Time with a horse trotting in a straight line Bright green (left) and red (right) values represent the forelimb forces while worked in-hand. Dark green (left) and purple (right) values represent the forelimb forces while ridden by a professional. Each "peak" represents one step with the associated limb.



Figure 2: TekscanTM outputs of Force vs. Time with a horse cantering to the left in a 10-m circle *Bright green (left) and red (right) values represent the forelimb forces while worked in-hand. Dark green (left) and purple (right) values represent the forelimb forces while ridden by a professional. Each "peak" represents one step with the associated limb.*



When experienced riders rode non-lame horses at the rising trot with one stirrup 5 cm shorter than the other, more rotation and bending of the thoracolumbar spine of the horse was seen when the shortened stirrup was on the inside compared to the outside. This asymmetry is attributed to the fact that riders tilted towards the shortened stirrup. Riding with the shortened stirrup on the outside also lead to greater inside limb fetlock extension [42]. While riding at the sitting trot, collapse of one hip increases the force on the opposite side, while tilt of the rider's upper body in one direction leads to greater pressure on that same side [43].

A study evaluating horses trotted in-hand and under saddle found that hind limb lameness increased when ridden by a dressage rider compared to unridden [44]. Another study found that a professional rider has been found to decrease gait velocity and acceleration variability at the working trot, compared to the unridden trot [45]. It is important to note the impact that a rider can have on horse locomotion, with both the potential to increase asymmetry and variability, or decrease in the case of the professional rider. Conditions of circular exercise, such as the presence and experience of a rider need further evaluation to determine if there is a consistent impact to equine bone and joint health.

INJURIES

Osteoarthritis and joint injuries have been reported as a leading cause of lost training days and horse wastage, yet little has bridged that gap between circular exercise and joint damage. With up to 60% of lameness being related to osteoarthritis, this gap in research greatly affects the equine community [46,47]. A 10 – year retrospective study of western performance horses found the location of the majority of lameness to be the distal forelimb [48]. Within western performance, all-around horses (western pleasure, western riding, western horsemanship, and trail) and reining horses both experienced lameness that was most frequently in the distal forelimb. Reining horses experience greater speeds while traveling and turning compared to allaround horses. While the discipline of reining rarely utilizes lunging, reining horses are loped in circles extensively, as circles are a required maneuver in reining patterns and lateral flexibility is highly desired in these horses. Quarter Horses are the predominant breed used for reining, and often succumb to osteoarthritis [49]. In a survey across the United States, Quarter Horses and Thoroughbreds were found to make up over half of the population affected by osteoarthritis [50]. A dearth of research utilizing performance horses as the subject of research exists, especially given the high incidence of osteoarthritis in Quarter Horses and popularity of these horses across the United States.

Bone is able to adapt to the strains it is placed under, or a lack of strains. Based on the difference in training regimens they commonly experience, racing Thoroughbred and Standardbred horses can have different bone shape to the third metacarpal [34]. Racing Thoroughbreds travel short distances at the gallop and Standardbreds travel longer distances at

the trot or pace. Another study found that when turning counter-clockwise, a small cohort of Thoroughbred horses had increased strain measured on the lateral surface of the left (inside) third metacarpal and medial surface of the right (outside) third metacarpal when walking on a bitumen surface [51]. When exercising on a straight, flat surface, the lateral cortex of the third metacarpal is not significantly loaded like it is loaded when running on a turn [51]. This may put the lateral cortex at higher risk of fracture when running into a curve at high speeds. Catastrophic fractures in older Thoroughbred racehorses frequently occur in the lateral cortex of the left third metacarpal, most likely due to the high strains experienced to the leading front leg during turning [52].

At North American Thoroughbred racetracks, from January 2009 – December 2014, horses euthanized due to fracture within 72 hours of race start, were most frequently found to have forelimb fractures compared to hindlimb [37]. In the majority of North American tracks, track shape is an oval, and races are run counterclockwise, leading to horses traveling with their left lead around a turn, then switching to their right lead on a straightaway to prevent fatigue of traveling on one lead the entire race. A study of Midwestern racetracks found that in Thoroughbreds the left forelimb was the most common site for injuries (56% of CMIs) [53]. As a result of greater impulse on the left forelimb while galloping around the turn of a race track, Thoroughbreds are at greater risk for injury to the left forelimb while traveling around a turn [54]. In Quarter Horses, the right forelimb is most commonly involved in catastrophic musculoskeletal injuries (CMIs), with the left forelimb following second (57% and 24% of CMIs, respectively). This may be due to the preference of the right lead in racing Quarter Horses [46,53]. However, the presence of motor laterality within the equine population is questionable

and may not exist outside of horses in race training, as it was not found in Quarter Horses trained for cutting [55].

This may seem contradictory, as previous sections in this review have discussed increased forces to the outside front limb during turning both in training at slower gaits and racing at the gallop. However, during turning, the outside front limb has a pushing function, and while a horse is galloping, the weight of the horse will be pushed forward and laterally onto the lead forelimb [34]. The risk of injury to inside or outside forelimb appears to be dependent on curve radius, with the tightest of curve radii being higher risk to the outside forelimb [37]. Curve radius and the potential for catastrophic injury can also put jockey's at risk; a retrospective study of risk factors for jockeys in Japanese Thoroughbred racing found smaller tracks to have a greater risk of injury [56].

IMPROVEMENTS

The transition from running along a straight portion of a track into a curve can be drastic and cause a horse to lose coordination. To mitigate this, transitional curves, such as a gradual curve that slowly decreases in radius, can be implemented at tracks [57]. One way to rid tracks of the problem of curve design is to race on straight tracks. This is how racing started, however, is not conducive to spectators. A completely circular track could also be used, but also comes with its own set of issues such as increased space, ideal speed, and safe starting [57]. The Hanshin Racecourse in Japan which was found to have geometric and surface issues was restructured, and horse injuries were evaluated after this restructuring. This racetrack was nearly flat, and triangular shaped (turns 1 and 2 were nearly seamless, with turns 3 and 4 as the base of a triangle), producing quick times, as well as higher fracture risk. After many years of racing, the surface had become concerningly hard. Restructuring resulted in more gradual corners, better

surface cushioning, and an upgrade slope before the finishing stretch. After restructuring, severe injuries were significantly reduced, including fracture and non-fracture injuries. The track renovations did effectively decrease horse speeds, leading to slower racing times caused by slower times around the 3rd and 4th corners and the home stretch [58].

The increase in banking at tracks for Standardbred racehorses has led to a decrease in injuries. Standardbred racetracks are often smaller than those used for Thoroughbreds, necessitating banked turns to prevent injuries [19,59]. Thoroughbred racetracks do not include banking as dramatic as Standardbred racetracks. The lack of banking causes a horse to need to change how their limbs interact with the ground underneath of them. Horses running at high speeds through a curve utilize friction and place their feet sideways to stay on the flat, curved path. The inclusion of a greater degree of banking and increasing the radius of corners for Thoroughbred racehorses may reduce injuries [19,57].

Even at speeds slower than the racing gaits of Thoroughbreds and Standardbreds, banking has been found to allow horses to travel around a curve in a similar fashion to a straight line. When traveling on a 10-m circle that is flat, horses will perform greater inside forelimb adduction (bringing closer to the midline of the body) compared to a banked surface at the walk, trot, and canter [29]. When lunging on a flat circle, horses may need more forelimb adduction to properly balance as they lean into the curve, and allow their mass to travel over the stance leg. Body lean is also greater in a flat lunge circle than a banked lunge circle. As the body leans into the curve, the limbs also "tilt" and are potentially loaded unevenly. However, the use of banking deceases relative body lean angle, and therefore reduces uneven loading of the limbs [29].

Acclimation to traveling around a curve may be needed for young horses. Given that young horses in race training can become acclimated to running through a curve, an adjustment

period should be considered in training regimens [20]. Speed work in young horses should not be avoided, as it is beneficial for bone formation [60–63], and should be permitted in the straight portions of a track while animals are acclimating to traveling around a curve at high speeds.

CHAPTER 2: Evaluation of within- and between- session reliability of the TekscanTM Hoof System with a glue-on shoe

This chapter has been published in the Journal of Equine Veterinary Science and is available at the following citation:

Logan, A.A., B.D. Nielsen, D.B. Hallock, C. I. Robison, J.M. Popovich Jr. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science* **2022**, 110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JEVS.2021.103862</u>

A current trend in equine research is technology development to minimize the subjective nature of gait analysis. One such technology is the Tekscan Hoof System, which records force and area loaded by the hooves during motion. The objective of this study was to determine the test-retest reliability of the Tekscan Hoof System between two sessions, and the recordings within those sessions. Four mature Standardbred geldings wore Tekscan Hoof System sensors on both front hooves, secured by glue-on shoes (SoundHorse Technologies). Horses were exercised in AM and PM sessions. In each session, horses walked and trotted for three recordings of at least 10 steps. Statistical analysis was performed in SAS 9.4 with fixed effects of gait, horse, leg, and recording nested within session (significance at $P \le .05$). Intraclass Correlation Coefficients (ICC; 3,k) and confidence intervals between AM and PM sessions and recordings were calculated with SPSS. Average force and area were higher in AM sessions than PM sessions (P < .0001). Between AM and PM sessions, ICC for the walk had good reliability (0.96, 95% CI = (0.80 - 0.99) and excellent reliability at the trot (0.98, 95% CI = 0.91 - 0.99). Within the AM and PM sessions, reliability was excellent at both the walk, and trot (ICCs > 0.96). The Tekscan Hoof System has been found to have excellent reliability within sessions. Caution should be taken when comparing between sessions, as the system is found to have lower force and area output during later sessions due to potential sensor damage.

Chapter 3: Impact of gait and diameter during circular exercise on front hoof area, vertical force, and pressure in mature horses

Logan, A. A.; B.D. Nielsen, C. I. Robison, D.B. Hallock, J.M. Manfredi, K.M. Hiney, D.D. Buskirk, J.M. Popovich Jr. *Animals* **2021**, 11, 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11123581

SIMPLE SUMMARY

Circular exercise is used frequently to exercise, train, and evaluate horses both under saddle and with lunging. However, little is known of the impacts this type of repetitive exercise has on the front limbs of horses. Nine mature horses wore TekscanTM Hoof Sensors on their front hooves to determine if changing the circle size and gait at which the horse is traveling impacts the area, vertical force, or pressure output. Sensor data were collected while horses travelled in a straight line at the walk and trot and in small and large counterclockwise circles at the walk, trot, and canter. Gait was found to be a driving factor for differences in outputs, with mean area, mean vertical force, and mean pressure being greater at the walk in a straight line, and the area being greater at the canter when circling. When traveling in a counterclockwise circle, the mean area of the outside front leg was highest at the canter. This study shows gait is an important factor when evaluating exercise in a circle or straight line. Horse owners may choose to perform circular exercise at slower gaits or minimize unnecessary circular exercise to decrease differences between limbs and potentially reduce injury.

ABSTRACT

Circular exercise can be used at varying gaits and diameters to exercise horses, with repeated use anecdotally relating to increased lameness. This work sought to characterize mean area, mean vertical force, and mean pressure of the front hooves while exercising in a straight line at the walk and trot, and small (10-m diameter) and large circles (15-m diameter) at the walk, trot, and canter. Nine mature horses wore TekscanTM Hoof Sensors on their forelimbs

adhered with a glue-on shoe. Statistical analysis was performed in SAS 9.4 with fixed effects of leg, gait, and exercise type (PROC GLIMMIX) and p < 0.05 as significant. For all exercise types, the walk had greater mean pressure than the trot (p < 0.01). At the walk, the straight line had greater mean area loaded than the large circle (p = 0.01), and both circle sizes had lower mean vertical force than the straight line (p = 0.003). During circular exercise at the canter, the outside front limb had greater mean area loaded than at the walk and trot (p = 0.001). This study found that gait is an important factor when evaluating circular exercise and should be considered when exercising horses to prevent injury.

INTRODUCTION

The use of circular exercise is frequent in equine training, both under-saddle and in-hand via lunging, and anecdotally has the potential to contribute to lameness. During early training, horses are often exercised in a circular manner through lunging or in a round pen. Some riding disciplines, such as dressage, reining, and barrel racing, use circular exercise during training and competition throughout a horse's career. Often, the circles performed in these disciplines are on a small radius with high speed and are utilized frequently within a training session. Thoroughbred racehorses also experience circular forces as they lean into a bend at high speeds [11,20]. Lunging with and without lunging aids, and the use of mechanical horse walkers is found in many rehabilitation protocols [4,5]. When surveyed, 50% of Thoroughbred trainers in Victoria, Australia indicated the use of a mechanical walker as an alternative exercise method to track work [3]. In lameness evaluations, a higher proportion of lameness can be found while utilizing lunging on hard or soft surfaces compared to straight lines [6]. While circular exercise is commonly used, many in the industry are unaware of the potential negative impacts it can have on joint health. While being exercised in a circle, horses will lean into the continuous turns up to 20 degrees to

maintain balance. As speed and curve increase, the lean angle will also increase [8–11,29]. Greater tilt on a flat curved surface has also been found compared to a banked curve surface [29]. Due to the possibility of a reduced loaded area, uneven vertical forces may be placed on joints and bones of the limbs during circular exercise.

Quadrupeds, such as horses, may be at an advantage during curve running, as they can redistribute weight to multiple stance legs within a stride [11]. It has been found that, while cantering in a 10-m circle, horses will have greater peak ground reaction force on the outside forelimb compared to the inside forelimb. This difference in vertical forces between limbs was not evident at slower speeds and may be due to the presence of a lead and non-lead forelimb and hindlimb during the canter. In both humans and horses, the outside limb while sprinting through a curve is known to generate more vertical and lateral force than the inside limb [11]. When speed is held constant between a straight line and a curve, stride duration is seen to increase when horses travel around a curve compared to a straight line. With training, this increase in stride duration around a curve is seen to decrease, potentially through familiarity via training or neuromuscular adaptation [20].

There are few equine studies evaluating circular exercise; however, human exercise studies evaluating running on a curve are abundant. It has been found that in humans, when running around an unbanked curve, the inside leg has a lower peak ground reaction force than the outside leg. Peak ground reaction forces of both legs and speed are also lower when sprinting around a curve compared to in a straight line [12]. Not only does the presence of a curve impact runners, so does the sharpness of a curve. Running on a sharply curved track (5-m radius) led to greater torsion on the inside tibia compared to running on a gently curved track (15 m) or a straight line [16]. Both the speed and the radius of a circle will impact the gait asymmetry of horses circling at the trot [8].

A retrospective study of risk factors for jockeys in Japanese Thoroughbred racing found smaller tracks to have a greater risk of injury [56].

In racing Quarter Horses, who race on straight portions of tracks, the right forelimb is most commonly involved in catastrophic musculoskeletal injuries (CMIs), with the left forelimb following (57% and 24% of CMIs, respectively). This may be due to the preference of the right lead in racing Quarter Horses [46]. However, the presence of motor laterality within the equine population is questionable and may not exist outside of horses in race training, as it was not found in Quarter Horses trained for cutting [55]. Thoroughbreds typically race counterclockwise on an oval track in North America, with the left front leg as the leading leg while traveling around a curve in the track. A study of Midwestern U.S. racetracks found that the left forelimb was the most common (60% of CMIs) in Quarter Horses [53]. As a result of greater impulse on the left forelimb while galloping around the turn of a race track, Thoroughbred racehorses are at greater risk for injury to the left forelimb while traveling around a turn [54].

It has been hypothesized that horses handle traveling in a circle similar to the adjustments they make in response to lameness on a straight line; horses counteract uncomfortable limb loading with asymmetrical movement, which redistributes limb loading [7]. Horses will lean into the circle in which they are traveling, with the lean increasing with speed and smaller radii [8]. The level of training can also impact lean angle, as a horse acclimated to tracking in a circle can travel more upright than a horse that is not acclimated to tracking in a circle or bend. This has especially been noted in dressage, where older, trained horses are able to travel while engaging their neck, back, and hindlimb musculature, where a younger horse may not be able to do so through a circle. Body lean may also be increased when a lame forelimb is on the inside of the circle [10,29,64]. When

circling at the trot, a two-beat diagonal gait, horses have decreased loading when the inside front leg and outside hind leg are in a stance, compared to a push-off pattern for the outer limbs [18,65].

Osteoarthritis (OA) and joint injuries have been reported as a leading cause of lost training days and horse wastage. There may be a connection between OA and circular exercise, but interactions between circular exercise and joint damage have not been explored. With up to 60% of lameness being related to OA, this gap in research greatly affects the equine community [46,47]. Within the United States, Quarter Horses and Thoroughbreds have been identified as making up half the population affected by OA [50]. Osteoarthritis can occur secondary to excessive loads on normal cartilage or normal loads on abnormal cartilage [66,67], with both mechanisms possibly exacerbated by circular exercise. It has been noted that horses are able to perform adaptations to limb position while exercising on a circle via abduction (pushing the limbs away from the midline of the body) and adduction (bringing the limbs towards the midline), but these adaptations performed over long periods of time and at faster gaits may lead to greater risk of injury to the distal limb [29,67].

Utilizing the TekscanTM Hoof System (Tekscan, Inc., Boston, MA, USA), the aim of this study was to categorize the outputs (i.e., area, vertical force, and pressure) for the front hooves of horses during counterclockwise circular exercise, and to demonstrate that these outputs vary depending on circle diameter and gait. It was hypothesized that faster gaits and a decreased circle diameter would lead to greater disparity in the mean area, vertical force, and pressure of the front limbs, with the outer limbs having a smaller mean loaded area with greater mean vertical force and pressure.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This research was approved by the Michigan State University (MSU) Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (PROTO201800148).

Horses

A total of nine mature horses participated in this study (14 ± 2 years). Arabian horses were obtained from the MSU Horse Teaching and Research center (n = 4: Two mares and two geldings) and stock horses were obtained from a local training operation (n = 5: Two mares and three geldings). One week prior to beginning exercise, horses were evaluated by two board-certified veterinarians (large animal surgery and one also boarded in equine sports medicine and rehabilitation) with a Lameness Locator[®] and subjective lameness evaluation to be sound (American Association of Equine Practitioners lameness grade of <2 on each front leg). Horses were transported to the MSU Pavilion South Arena for one day for exercise analysis. During the day, while not being exercised, horses were given ad libitum access to water and hay and kept in individual stalls.

Hoof Preparation and Sensors

Hoof and sensor preparations were performed in a method previously utilized when using the Tekscan Hoof SystemTM with a glue-on shoe [68]. Horses were trimmed by a certified farrier (Certified Journey Farrier, Advanced Skill Farrier, Associate of the Worshipful Company of Farriers) within a week before exercise. Horses were trimmed for medial-lateral balance according to the long axis of the limb observed with the hoof picked up. Excess hoof was removed as needed to achieve a flat plane to place sensors, and shoe placement was guided by the center of rotation (COR) [69]. Horse hooves were measured for width and length to determine an accurate glue-on shoe (SoundHorse Technology) size for each horse (Table 1). An exact fit for each front hoof and shoe was desired so that the loaded sensor area represented the loaded area of the hoof. Tekscan hoof sensors were trimmed to the size of the front hooves of each of the horses after initial hoof trimming. The trimmed sensors were sealed in two layers of liquid rubber (Flex Seal, Weston, Florida) to protect the sensors from moisture and sand exposure. The liquid rubber sealing was allowed to dry for 24–48 h before sensors were placed on horses.

The day before horses exercised, horses were weighed for calibration. Two scales of equal height were used. Horses stood with their hind legs on one scale and their front legs on another and were encouraged to stand square with their weight equally distributed. The weight of the front half of the horse was recorded on one scale for sensor calibration (Tru-Test Multipurpose MP600 Load Bars). This weight was divided in half, to represent the left limb and the right limb (Table 1).

On the day of exercise, the sealed and trimmed sensors were attached to the front hooves of each horse with a glue-on shoe and animal-safe epoxy. Horses were shod with a ratio of 60% in front of COR and 40% behind [69]. After the initial mixing, the two-part epoxy used to adhere the shoe to the hoof wall was dried for approximately 30 min to be cured for exercise. Before beginning exercise, the sensors were calibrated with the previously recorded weight of the forelimbs. Each horse walked the length of the indoor arena to pre-load the sensors. Afterwards, they were brought to a flat spot in the middle of the arena and encouraged to stand squarely with their weight evenly distributed. Using F-Scan research software (TekscanTM), the previously determined weight of the front limbs (Table 1) was inputted with the step calibration function, and a calibration file was saved for the left and right forelimbs for each horse.

Horse	Breed	Shoe Size	Forelimb Weight (kg)	Left Hoof Width (mm)	Right Hoof Width (mm)	Left Hoof Length (mm)	Right Hoof Length (mm)
1	Stock horse	00	170	120	120	138	135
2	Stock horse	0.5	169	138	138	136	136
3	Stock horse	1.5	167	127	130	138	138
4	Stock horse	00	156	127	127	129	130
5	Stock horse	0	135	127	128	127	127
6	Arabi an	1.5	139	135	130	145	140
7	Arabi an	0.5	138	130	125	128	128
8	Arabi an	0	131	122	135	130	125
9	Arabi an	0	127	125	125	127	127

Table 1: Horse details—forelimb calibration weights used for the Tekscan Hoof System and front hoof measurements used to accurately assign front hoof glue-on shoe size for each horse.

Exercise

Previous research with the Tekscan Hoof SystemTM has found that when used with a glueon shoe on the front hooves, the sensors are reliable within a session of exercise [68]. Bearing this in mind, the current study was designed that each horse would complete all their exercise within one session, and each set of sensors would only be used once. Straight-line exercise was performed first for each horse, so that if a sensor was damaged during circular exercise, then all horses would have straight-line exercise recordings. The space in which straight-line exercise was recorded was 25 m in length. Multiple recordings have previously been suggested for exercise protocols utilizing sensors such as this to gain a mean of the desired outputs [70–73]. Each horse was recorded three times at both the walk and trot traveling in a straight line the length of the indoor arena. The canter was not recorded in a straight line, as the gait is not able to be safely and consistently attained when horses are led in-hand. Each recording included at least 10 steps of the horse performing the specified gait consistently with no break. All straight-line exercise was performed by the same handler.

After the straight-line exercise, each horse was led to the portable round pen in the middle of the indoor arena. Order of size for the circular exercise (small first or large first) was randomly assigned for each horse. The size of the small circle was 10 m in diameter, while the size of the large circle was 15 m. Circle diameter was adjusted by adding or removing portable round pen panels with the perimeter for each circle size marked in the sand of the arena so that both circles were set up the same each time. For each horse, three recordings of at least 10 strides at the walk, trot, and canter were taken for both the large circle and the small circle. All circular exercise was performed in a counterclockwise direction, with the left forelimb on the inside and the right forelimb on the outside. Only one direction was evaluated so that one limb could be consistently denoted as the outside limb and the other as the inside limb. Counterclockwise was chosen as this is the direction of travel for racing horses and is typically the first direction of travel for horses competing in judged classes on the rail. Horses were encouraged to maintain gait speed with a human handler either verbally or visually encouraging them to gain speed or slow down. The speed of the walk, trot, or canter was not controlled between animals, as each individual animal has a speed for each gait at which they are able to move comfortably and maintain their gait consistently through recordings. Other gait analysis studies have preferred to allow animals to travel at their natural speed within a gait during testing [6,18,47,71]. If there were errors such as an incorrect lead or break of gait, the recording in process was stopped and re-recorded. Following exercise, the glue-on shoes and sensors were removed from each horse.

Data Analysis

Sensor data were recorded at a sampling rate of 112 frames/second for all conditions. Recorded data were then analyzed with Tekscan F-Scan Software (version 6.85). F-Scan Software collected vertical force and area outputs, and calculated pressure from the coordinating vertical force and area for a frame. The first and last steps were removed from each recording dataset to ensure that no transitional steps between gaits were included in the dataset. Each recording dataset still had at least 10 steps with the first and last step removed. If individual sensor cells, sensels, were loaded during a suspension phase for a hoof, these erroneous sensels were manually removed. The mean vertical force, area, and pressure for each step were exported from F-Scan Software in an ASCII file.

Statistical Analysis

Data were exported from the F-Scan Software (version 6.85) and imported into SAS (version 9.4) for statistical analysis and were evaluated for normality via residual plots. To evaluate the impacts that gait and circle size have on kinematic outputs, two datasets were created. One dataset removed the gait "canter", so that at both the walk and trot outputs could be compared for the straight line and both circle sizes. A second dataset removed the exercise type "straight", so that at the walk, trot, and canter, the two circle sizes could be compared. These two separate datasets were necessary, as a canter on a straight line was not able to be safely included in the data collection for this study. The main effects of gait, exercise type, and leg were evaluated in PROC GLIMMIX with Tukey adjustment. Interactions of "gait and exercise type", "gait and leg", "exercise type and leg", and "gait, exercise type, and leg" were also evaluated. Horse, and all interactions including horse, was included as a random effect. Significance was set at p < 0.05. Means are reported at means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).
RESULTS

Dataset without Canter

Loaded Hoof Area

Gait (p = 0.03) and exercise type (p = 0.03) were significant main effects for area (Table 1), but leg was not (p = 0.44). The walk had a greater mean area than the trot by 12%. Gait and exercise type constituted a significant interaction (p = 0.005), but "gait and leg" as well as "exercise type and leg" were non-significant interactions (p = 0.10 and 0.71, respectively). "Gait, exercise type, and leg" was not a significant interaction (p = 0.48). At the walk and trot, there were no significant between-leg (left vs. right) differences in the mean area (p = 0.33 and p = 0.58, respectively)

At the walk, the area was different between exercise types (p = 0.01, Table 2), but not at the trot. While trotting in a straight line, the mean area was lower than at the walk (Table 2). Within the small and large circles, gait was not different in terms of the area (p = 0.09 and p = 0.19, respectively).

by exercise type in the dataset excluding canter.						
Exercise Type	Walk Mean Area (Sensels	Trot Mean Area (Sensels				
	Loaded)	Loaded)				
Straight*	42 ^a	35				
Small circle	32 ^{ab}	29				
Large circle	29 ^b	26				
Within gait SEM	4	4				

Table 2: Mean area loaded on the front hooves for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by exercise type in the dataset excluding canter.

^{ab} Means with different superscripts are significantly different within a column (p = 0.01).

* For an exercise type, mean area was different between gaits (p < 0.01).

0.01

Vertical Force

Within gait *p*-Value

Gait (p = 0.007) and exercise type (p = 0.007) were both significant main effects for vertical force (Table 3), but leg was not (p = 0.71). The walk resulted in a greater mean vertical force than

0.11

the trot by 14%. No two-way interactions were significant. The three-way interaction of "gait, exercise type, and leg" was significant (p = 0.02). At the walk and trot, there were no significant between-leg differences in the mean vertical force (p = 0.75 and 0.66, respectively).

At both the walk and trot, the exercise type resulted in different mean vertical force outputs, with straight-line exercise leading to a higher mean vertical force at both gaits, although only significantly higher than both circle sizes at the walk (Table 3). During straight-line exercise and small-circle exercise, the walk had a greater mean vertical force (Table 3).

Table 3: Mean front hoof vertical force in Newtons (N) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by exercise type in the dataset excluding canter.

Exercise Type	Walk Mean Vertical Force	Trot mean vertical force
	(N)	(N)
Straight**	1234 ^a	1040 ^a
Small circle*	810 ^b	700 ^{ab}
Large circle	736 ^b	660 ^b
Within gait SEM	356	134
Within gait <i>p</i> -Value	0.003	0.02

^{ab} Means with different superscripts are significantly different within a column (p < 0.05).

* For an exercise type, mean vertical force was different between gaits (p < 0.05).

** For an exercise type, mean vertical force was different between gaits (p < 0.001).

Front Hoof Pressure

Gait was a significant main effect (p = 0.0007, Tables 4 and 5) for pressure, but exercise type and leg were non-significant effects (p = 0.16 and 0.14, respectively). The walk had a greater mean pressure than the trot by 23%. No two-way interactions were significant, but the three-way interaction of "gait, exercise type, and leg" was significant (p = 0.0008).

For the right and left legs, it was found that the mean walk pressure was greater than the mean trot pressure when all exercise conditions were averaged (Table 4). At the walk and trot, the exercise type did not lead to different mean pressures, but the walk had a greater mean pressure for all three exercise types compared to the trot (Table 5).

Leg	Walk Mean Pressure (kPa)	Trot Mean Pressure (kPa)
Right leg**	723	530
Left leg**	963	775
Within gait SEM	149	149
Within gait <i>p</i> - Value	0.15	0.14

Table 4: Mean front hoof pressure by leg in kilopascals (kPa) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times per exercise type for the dataset excluding canter.

** For one leg, mean pressure was different between gaits (p < 0.001).

Table 5: Mean front hoof pressure in kilopascals (kPa) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by exercise type for the dataset excluding canter.

Exercise Type	Walk Mean Pressure (kPa)	Trot Mean Pressure (kPa)
Straight**	936	715
Small circle**	839	647
Large circle*	761	595
Within gait SEM	75	76
Within gait <i>p</i> - Value	0.09	0.31

* For an exercise type, mean pressure was different between gaits (p < 0.01).

** For an exercise type, mean pressure was different between gaits (p < 0.0001).

Dataset without Straight-line Exercise Loaded Hoof Area

Gait was a significant main effect (p = 0.03, Table 6) for area. The canter had a 21% greater mean loaded area than the walk and a 29% greater mean loaded area than the trot. Exercise type and leg were non-significant effects (p = 0.78 and p = 0.33, respectively). The interactions of "gait and exercise type" (p = 0.28) as well as "exercise type and leg" (p = 0.72) were non-significant; however, the interaction of "gait and leg" was significant (p = 0.02). "Gait, exercise type, and leg" was a significant interaction (p = 0.0035). For the right front leg (outside leg), the canter had a greater mean loaded area than other gaits (Table 6), but this was not found in the left leg. For exercise in a large circle, the mean area loaded was different between gaits, with the canter being greater than the trot (p = 0.01, Table 6). While exercising in a small circle, the mean area was not different between gaits (Table 6).

ł	by gait for the datase	et excluding stra	aight-line exerc	ise.	
[Gait	Right Hoof	Left Hoof	Large Circle	Small Circle
		Mean Area	Mean Area	Mean Area	Mean Area
		(Sensels)	(Sensels)	(Sensels)	(Sensels)
	Walk	34 ^a	27	27 ^{ab}	32
	Trot	29 ^a	26	26 ^a	27

29

4

0.80

Table 6: Mean area loaded on the front hooves for nine horses with each gait repeated three times

39^b

4

0.01

37

4

0.11

^{ab} Means with different superscripts are significantly different within a column (p < 0.05).

Vertical Force

Canter

Within leg or

circle size SEM Within leg or

circle size *p*-value

47^b

4

0.001

Gait, exercise type, and leg were non-significant main effects (p = 0.33, 0.88, and 0.87, respectively) for the vertical force. "Gait and exercise type" as well as "exercise type and leg" were non-significant interactions (p = 0.17 and 0.71, respectively), but "gait and leg" was a significant interaction (p = 0.004, Table 7). "Gait, exercise type, and leg" was a significant interaction (p < 0.0001).

At the walk (p = 0.83), trot (p = 0.72), and canter (p = 0.31), the right and left legs did not have different mean vertical forces between legs. The right leg did have a lower mean vertical force at the trot than the canter (Table 7). During the large- and small-circle exercise, the mean vertical force did not differ by gait. At the walk, trot, and canter, the circle size did not have a different mean vertical force (Table 7).

Gait	Right Hoof	Left Hoof	Large Circle	Small Circle
	Mean Vertical	Mean Vertical	Mean Vertical	Mean Vertical
	Force (N)	Force (N)	Force (N)	Force (N)
Walk	745 ^{ab}	804	736	813
Trot	629 ^a	729	660	698
Canter	938 ^b	647	817	768
Within leg or				
circle size	94	94	84	86
SEM				
Within leg or				
circle size <i>p</i> -	0.01	0.27	0.20	0.40
value				

Table 7: Mean front hoof vertical force in Newtons (N) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by gait for the dataset excluding straight-line exercise.

^{ab} Means with different superscripts are significantly different within a column (p = 0.01).

Front Hoof Pressure

Gait was a significant main effect (p = 0.001, Table 8) for pressure, while exercise type and leg were not (p = 0.59 and 0.11, respectively). The walk had 22% and 28% greater mean pressures than the trot and canter, respectively. No two-way interactions were significant. The three-way interaction of "gait, exercise type, and leg" was significant (p = 0.005).

For both the right and left limbs, the walk was found to have a greater mean pressure than other gaits (Table 8). In both the large and small circles, the walk was found to have a larger mean pressure than other gaits. Within each gait, there were no differences between the large and small circle sizes (Table 8).

Gait	Right Hoof	Left Hoof	Large Circle	Small Circle
	Mean Pressure	Mean Pressure	Mean Pressure	Mean Pressure
	(kPa)	(kPa)	(kPa)	(kPa)
Walk	679 ^a	924 ^a	762 ^a	813
Trot	484 ^b	759 ^b	596 ^b	698
Canter	467 ^b	693 ^b	586 ^b	768
Within leg or circle size SEM	61	61	55	86
Within leg or circle size <i>p</i> -Value	0.003	0.003	0.006	0.40

Table 8: Mean front hoof pressure in kilopascal (kPa) for nine horses with each gait repeated three times by gait for the dataset excluding straight-line exercise.

^{ab} Means with different superscripts are significantly different within a column (p < 0.01).

DISCUSSION

The objectives of this study were to determine how changes in gait and circle diameter influence area, vertical force, and pressure of the front hooves. We hypothesized that a decrease in circle diameter and an increase in speed would lead to greater differences between inside and outside limb outputs. The results determined that changes to gait more frequently lead to differences in the mean vertical force, area, and pressure outputs than changes to the circle diameter size. Most of the differences noted in this study were driven by gait, with gait being a significant effect for all evaluated outputs except for vertical force in the dataset including canter.

When evaluating gait differences, the walk typically had greater mean area and vertical force in this study, but when canter was included, the canter had the greatest mean area loaded. The walk having the greatest pressure is driven by the inclusion of the area and vertical force in the calculation of pressure. Most studies utilizing the Tekscan Hoof System for gait analysis have done so at the walk [70–72,74] or trot [73,75,76]. The Tekscan sensors may not be able to record data as accurately when speed increases for gaits such as the canter or even a faster trot. It is also worth exploring that adaptation to circular exercise has been previously noted as gait-specific [29]. The differences in gait may be due to increased speed or different loading patterns, such as the

presence of a lead while cantering, as horses are known to protract the lead limb of a canter by flexing the elbow, carpal, hip, and tarsal joints [33]. One study found that as speed within the walk or trot increases while exercising on a treadmill, vertical impulse to the forelimbs and hindlimbs decreases [77]. While the current study did not compare speed within gaits, we did find that as gait increased from walk to trot, and therefore speed increased, the mean area, vertical force, and pressure decreased for the forelimbs. Another study found peak stress of the metacarpus and radius to be lower at a slow trot than the walk and canter and attributed the lower values of the slow trot to the symmetrical, diagonal movement of the gait [78].

Due to its two-beat diagonal footfall, the trot is considered a symmetrical gait and is the preferred gait for a lameness evaluation. The lower outputs seen at the trot in this study may be due to the fact that horses are able to utilize both forelimbs and hindlimbs within a trot stride in a more-even manner than the walk and canter [78–80]. The trot and canter also have moments of suspension, where the walk does not. Given that the results in this study are reported as means of the area, vertical force, and pressure, the lack of suspension in the walk could contribute to longer data collection for the right and left forelimbs at the walk than the trot and canter. Using a pressure plate, the stance phase of the walk has been found to be longer than that of a trot when tracking over both a hard surface and a soft surface [81]. Horses may also use other parts of their body, such as the musculature of the hindquarters, more so in the trot and canter than the walk, potentially leading to a decrease in the forelimb outputs [12,29,82,83]. One study found that activity of the hindlimb biceps femoris is minimal during the walk, but highly active according to electromyography at the trot and canter [84]. Another study found that at the walk and canter, horses exercising on flat and banked curves have a shorter stride length of the inside leg compared

to the outside leg [29]. As horses increase in gait speed from a walk, to a trot, to a canter, it has been found that trunk muscle engagement increases as well [85].

At the trot, the mean hoof area loaded was similar regardless of exercise type, once again suggesting the trot to be the more stable gait [79,80]. Vertical force was greatest on a straight line for both the walk and trot, while pressure was not found to be different between exercise types at the walk or trot. In humans, similar results have been found where peak vertical ground reaction forces are greater in a straight line than while running around a curve [12], similar to what was found in the current study. Considering the Tekscan[™] sensors measure vertical forces normal (perpendicular) to the sensor, it is conceivable that shear vertical forces were higher during circular exercise. During straight-line exercise, when a horse is tracking upright, the resultant force would be vertically measured. However, when horses are tracking in a circle, as was performed in this study, lateral forces are also considered when calculating the resultant force [37]. As the sensors were worn on the front hooves and measured the force of the area that came into contact with the arena surface, only the vertical forces were included in this study. While the walk had greater vertical force in this study, other forces, such as lateral force, may be greater in the trot and canter, especially during circular exercise [37,86].

When the canter was retained in the dataset, at all gaits, the large circle did not have a different mean area, vertical force, or pressure than the small circle. When exercising in the large circle, the canter did have a greater mean area than the trot. When exercising at both small and large circles, the walk had greater pressure than both the trot and canter. With the use of a pressure plate, another study found the vertical impulse of the walk to be almost twice that of the trot on both hard and soft surfaces [81]. Comparisons between pressure plates and sensors such as the

TekscanTM system should be made cautiously, as these two technologies have not been found to reliably produce the same outputs [76].

When the canter was removed from the dataset, the mean area and mean vertical force were not different between the right and left legs at the walk or trot. When the canter was maintained in the dataset, the mean loaded area of the right (outside) leg was greatest at the canter, and the mean vertical force for the right leg was greater at the canter than the trot. In this study, minimal differences were seen between limbs, but it was notable that the outside limb loaded area was greater at the canter. At racetracks with the smallest radii (>50-114 m), the outside front limb was found to have the highest number of fatal limb fractures [37]. A study evaluating body lean angle at the trot and canter lunged horses through a bitted bridle at a diameter of 10 m while wearing an inertial measurement unit on the sacrum [36]. The lean angle was reported to be greater at the canter (19°) than the trot (12°) when tracking both left and right. A greater lean-in angle at greater speeds could be cause for more push off with the outside leg [11,29], and therefore a greater mean area loaded in the outside limb at the canter, as was seen in this current study. Our findings are supported by another study, which found the third metacarpal of the outside limb endures greater strain than the inside limb when Thoroughbred horses are running around a turn [87]. While galloping around a turn, the stance phase for the inside front limb is greater, while the stance phase for the outside front limb is shorter, with larger centripetal, propulsive, and vertical forces [37]. The presence of greater peak ground reaction vertical forces in the outside leg compared to the inside leg on a curve has also been noted in humans [12]. This study did not evaluate horses tracking at a gallop, which many studies referenced in this study have evaluated. Instead, this study allowed for an exploration of gaits that are easily attainable and frequently used across the industry, including to exercise racing horses when they are not galloping. It is reasonable to expect when working a horse in a round pen or lunging a horse, especially in initial saddling and riding, that increased speed is needed to reach the optimal training state for the horse. However, given these results, the frequency of circular exercise via lunging or a round pen as a replacement to pasture turn-out or ridden exercise should be evaluated.

Circular exercise is frequently used to exercise and train animals, especially through lunging. A review of risk factors for lameness in dressage horses found lunging to be protective against lameness, while the use of walkers increased the risk of lameness [31]. Mechanical walkers are often used during recovery from lameness, so it may be difficult to separate horses that are being placed on a walker for recovery or for exercise. When on a mechanical walker, animals may be unsupervised, and are not controlled by a handler that would encourage them to travel upright and at consistent speeds. However, when lunging is utilized in dressage, often the use of a surcingle and bridle could encourage the horse to track in an upright and balanced manner, very similar to the way that a horse is "on the bit" while under saddle in dressage. In disciplines outside of dressage, lunging is typically performed with only the lunge line attached to a halter. This gives the handler less control of the horse, often resulting in lunging sessions where the horse is leaning into the circle and does not consistently engage the hindquarters and topline musculature to travel in an upright manner, making lunging in this manner less likely to be a protective factor against lameness. Circular exercise is also used under saddle for both training and competition in events such as dressage and reining. The presence of a rider is known to alter how horses utilize their back musculature at various gaits [85,88]. Further exploration into circular exercise with a rider present is needed to determine if differences between front limb outputs at the walk, trot, and canter are mitigated or exacerbated.

The current study evaluated straight line exercise versus circular exercise of a horse in a round-pen that was not attached to a lunge line. Further studies of similar design are needed to evaluate the impact of a lunge-line simply attached to a halter on forelimb disparity while an animal is in motion. When different head and neck positions were evaluated on a straight line on a treadmill, it was found that a high head position impacted limb functionality compared to an unrestrained horse [89]. Head and neck position has also been found to alter the center of motion of a horse while lunging [64]. The current study found frequent differences in gait, but limited differences in circle size for a horse moving freely in a round-pen. Differences in forelimb outputs between small and large circles may be detectable when a horse is exercised on a lunge line, as to make the circle smaller, greater tension could be applied to the lunge line attached to the horse's halter, potentially encouraging the horse to lean in and push off more with the outside leg.

A limitation in this study is that recordings of the canter on a straight line were not attainable, and thus two sets of data were evaluated to best compare gait and exercise types. Future studies could use a long aisle-way with an appropriate surface to have horses travel in a straight line without the need of a handler. This may help to better answer the question of whether circular exercise at a canter has differences in the outside limb because of the lead or just the increase in speed. Our current study only evaluated the front limbs, which permitted us to determine differences between the inside and outside limbs. It is recognized that the hindlimbs are important in the adaptation to motion, such as turning [37,82,86], and future studies to determine the impact of gait and the circle diameter to hind limb outputs should be explored. The TekscanTM system used in the manner of this study measured vertical force and not shear force, which is certainly important for turning, especially for the hind limbs [37]. It should be noted that many technologies are utilized for gait analysis, such as vertical force plates, inertial measurement units, and sensors

such as the TekscanTM Hoof System. Between studies, the technology used for analysis, as well as attachment methods and locations, is not standardized. While our study protocol and recorded metrics have been shown to be reliable [68], comparisons between studies should be made recognizing the current limitation of no standardized protocol for quantitative gait analysis for horses in motion currently.

CONCLUSIONS

While circular exercise is used frequently in the training, exercising, and competing of horses, little is known of its potential connection to joint and bone injury. This study explored the impact of gait as well as circle size to mean area, vertical force, and pressure of the front hooves. It was found that gait (walk, trot, canter) drives changes to outputs more than exercise type (straight, circular). The trot frequently had lower mean outputs than other gaits, suggesting that it is a more dynamically stable gait that could potentially allow horses to adapt to circular exercise easier than other gaits. Handlers looking to utilize circular exercise while maintaining the longevity of equine careers may consider doing so at slower gaits, as differences in outside limb output were noted at the canter, or minimizing the use of circular exercise. Future studies will help to determine if a round-pen allows the horse to adapt to changes in gait and diameter better than when exercised on a lunge line or under saddle. Lateral forces may be greater during circular exercise and should be evaluated and compared with the findings of vertical forces provided in this research.

CHAPTER 4: Impact of circular exercise diameter on bone and joint health of juvenile animals SIMPLE SUMMARY

In many equestrian disciplines, circular exercise is utilized to train, exercise, and compete with horses and can vary in gait, as well as diameter. This study aimed to determine if circular exercise diameter impacts animal health. Calves have previously been used as a terminal skeletal model of juvenile horses, allowing for collection of musculoskeletal samples not acceptable from horses. Calves exercised on a small circle (12-m clockwise), large circle (18-m clockwise), treadmill, or served as non-exercised controls. Exercise was performed at a walking speed starting 5 minutes per day and increasing 5 minutes weekly until reaching 30 minutes per day during the 7-week study. The response to exercise was monitored in forelimb bones and joints. The small circular exercise group was found to have bone diameters which differed between the right and left fused third and fourth metacarpi, and between lateral and medial proximal phalanx bones. Cartilage glycosaminoglycan content was greater in the outside leg of the small circle exercise calves than the inside leg, with no differences noted within other treatments. These differences suggest that altering circular exercise diameter can impact bone and joint health, and that larger diameter circles may prevent asymmetric loading between inside and outside legs.

ABSTRACT

Circular exercise is used in many equestrian disciplines, this study aimed to determine if circle diameter impacts juvenile animal forelimb bone and joint health. On d 0, 24 calves at 9 wks of age were assigned exercise treatments: small circle (12-m clockwise), large circle (18-m clockwise), treadmill, or non-exercised control. Exercise initiated at 1.1–1.5 m/s for 5 mins/d and increased 5 mins weekly until reaching 30 mins/d. On d 49 synovial fluid was collected from multiple joints, cartilage was collected from the proximal surface of fused third and fourth

38

metacarpi (MC III & IV), and forelimbs underwent computed tomography scans. Statistical analysis (PROC mixed) was performed in SAS 9.4. The inside leg of the small circle treatment had larger MC III & IV dorsopalmar external diameter than the outside (P = 0.05). The medial proximal phalanx had greater mediolateral diameter than the lateral proximal phalanx of the small circle treatment (P = 0.01). Fetlock nitric oxide was greater in large circle and treadmill treatments (P < 0.0001). Cartilage glycosaminoglycan concentration was greater in the outside leg of the small circle exercise treatment than the inside leg (P = 0.03). Even at slow speeds, circular exercise diameter can impact joint and bone health, but faster speeds may have greater alterations.

INTRODUCTION

The strain environment of bone can be influenced by exercise and consists of many factors, such as magnitude of strain, rate of strain, distribution of strain, and frequency of strain. Response of bone to exercise can be explained by the mechanostat theory. Under this theory, bone can adapt to its mechanical environment based on the strains it is subject to. When there is too little strain in the environment, the amount of bone needed is reduced, and bone resorption occurs. When there is an increase in strain, the amount of bone needed is increased, and bone formation occurs. The mechanostat theory also predicts bone can be maintained and repaired without net resorption or net formation when strain is high enough to prevent removal of unnecessary bone, but not too high to elicit an acquisition of more bone [90]. Dynamic exercise, such as sprinting, leads to an increase in bone strength in juvenile animals [60]. While straight-line sprint exercise has been found to benefit bone strength, little is known of the impacts that circular exercise has on bone or joint health of juvenile animals. Circular exercise is used frequently in training, exercise, and competition of horses across various disciplines. Common methods of circular exercise include

riding under saddle, or working on the ground, such as in round pens and lunging. In the early training of a young horse, circular exercise via a round pen or lunging is used frequently. During circular exercise, the gait (walk, trot, canter, or gallop) and diameter can be altered by the handler or rider.

While exercising on a circle, horses will lean into the center of the circle by up to 20 degrees to maintain balance [9,10]. Speed and radius have been found to impact lean angle, with greater speed and smaller radii increasing lean-in towards the center of the circle [11]. Level of training can also impact lean angle, as a horse acclimated to traveling on a circle can travel more upright than a horse which is not acclimated to traveling in a circle or arc. This has especially been noted in dressage, where trained horses are able to travel "on the bit", while inexperienced horses may not be able to engage the back and hindlimb musculature through a circle [8]. Quadrupeds, such as horses, may be at an advantage compared to bipedal runners during curve running, as they can redistribute weight to multiple stance legs within a stride. It has been found that while cantering in a 10-m circle, horses will have greater peak ground reaction force on the outside forelimb compared to the inside forelimb [17]. While traveling around a curve, Thoroughbred race horses experience greater strain to the outside forelimb, which increases as speed increases [19]. When both humans and horses sprint through a curve, the outside limb is known to generate more vertical and lateral force than the inside limb [11].

Sharpness of a turn is also found to impact horses and human runners. A sharply curved track (5-m radius) leads to greater torsion on the inside tibia of humans compared to running on a gently curved track (15-m) or straight line [16]. When running around a curve, the inside and outside limbs of human subjects are not biomechanically symmetrical. As circle radius decreases, peak resultant ground reaction forces to the inside leg decrease compared to straight line running

[12]. As speed increases, whole forelimb and third metacarpal angle in the horse increase, supporting that due to centripetal acceleration while traveling around a turn, horses lean into a turn at a greater angle as speed increases [11]. The area loaded by the outside front hoof is greater at the canter than the trot or walk during circular exercise, suggesting a push-off motion with the outside front leg at the canter [91]. Due to the reduced surface area of the inside hoof that is loaded, uneven forces may be placed on joints and bones of the fore and hind limbs during circular exercise. These forces exerted on a smaller surface area have the potential to lead to a higher risk for joint injury and osteoarthritis [9].

Circle radius can impact animal and rider safety, a retrospective study of risk factors for jockeys in Japanese Thoroughbred racing found smaller tracks to have a greater risk of injury [56]. Osteoarthritis and joint injuries have been reported as a leading cause of lost training days and horse wastage, yet little research has bridged the gap between circular exercise and joint damage. Osteoarthritis can be caused by excessive loads to normal cartilage, or normal loads to abnormal cartilage [66,67]. With up to 60% of lameness being related to osteoarthritis, this gap in research greatly affects the equine community [46,47].

Biomarkers can allow determination of bone and joint activity throughout an exercise trial. Osteocalcin (OC), a marker of bone formation, and c-telopeptide crosslaps of type I collagen (CTX-1), a marker of bone resorption, can be monitored simultaneously from serum samples to aid in determining bone activity in horses and bovines [60,92]. Procollagen II cpropeptide (CPII) is a marker of collagen synthesis [93]. Osteoarthritis affected horses have been found to have greater CPII serum and synovial fluid concentration during an exercise trial than horses without osteoarthritis [94]. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂) and nitric oxide (NO) are markers of inflammation and cartilage metabolism that are frequently evaluated in synovial fluid. Synovial

41

fluid PGE₂ is found to be greater in joints affected by osteoarthritis than in joints that are not affected by osteoarthritis in exercising horses [94]. Exercise has been found to increase synovial fluid concentration of PGE₂ in healthy, sound horses as well [95]. Joints effected by osteoarthritis may experience both catabolic and protective functions of NO [96]. Glycosaminoglycans (GAG) are a hydrophilic proteoglycan in the extracellular matrix of articular cartilage, which provide shock absorption and resistance against forces [24]. Within articular cartilage, GAG concentration had been found to be heterogenous between joint locations [97,98]. Biomarkers can be combined with evaluation of bone morphology as well as tensile testing to determine the activity, shape, and strength of bone as well as joint health [60,61].

Many studies have evaluated gait characteristics of animals performing circular exercise, but few have evaluated bone and joint health. The objective of this study was to utilize a calf model to determine the impact of diameter during circular exercise at the walk to forelimb bone and joint health in juvenile animals. Calves have been used as a model for management and exercise of young horses successfully in previous studies [60–62,98]. It was hypothesized that exercise on a smaller diameter circle would lead to increased biological markers of joint inflammation and metabolism and greater asymmetry between inside and outside forelimbs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals, housing, and exercise

Holstein steer calves, previously dehorned, were obtained from a local farm at 8 weeks of age and moved into group-housing at the Michigan State University (MSU) Veterinary Research Farm. Group-housing consisted of a pen (112 m²) including a partially enclosed three-sided shed (17 m²) bedded in straw with a feeding trough and automatic water trough. Calves had *ad libitum*

access to calf starter (Caledonia Farmers Elevator, Caledonia, MI) and water. Calves were given one week for acclimation to housing and halter training before exercise began at 9 weeks of age. Each calf underwent two days of halter training, in which they were introduced to the sensation of a rope halter and taught to move forward from halter pressure while being led for two laps in the group-housing pen. Calves were evaluated with daily health checks to assure the safety of exercise.

On d 0, calves were 9 weeks of age, and blood samples were taken along with height, weight, and length measurements. Calves were then randomly striated to treatment groups based on weight. Calves remained in their treatment groups for 7 weeks (49 d). Treatment groups consisted of non-exercise controls, treadmill exercise, small circle exercise, and large circle exercise. All treatment groups were maintained together in a group-housing pen. Calves randomized to the circle and treadmill exercise treatments exercised 5 d/wk starting at 5 min/d and increased by 5 min each week until reaching 30 min (Table 9). Exercise was performed at a speed of 1.1–1.5 m/s, allowing calves to maintain a walking gait. This exercise protocol allowed calves to acclimate to exercise throughout the study. Circular exercise was performed in a clockwise fashion, tracking to the right, on a mechanical walker (Q-line Horse Exercise) with both a small diameter (12 m) and large diameter (18 m) track. Treadmill exercise was performed on a Classic Treadmill equine treadmill (Classic Champion Model 940, Queensland, Australia).

Week	Exercise duration
1	5 min/d
2	10 min/d
3	15 min/d
4	20 min/d
5	25 min/d
6	30 min/d
7	30 min/d

Table 9: Exercise protocol for treadmill, small circle, and large circle treatment groups. *All exercise was performed 5 d/wk at a speed of 1.1–1.5 m/s*

Sample collection

Starting on d 0 and continuing weekly, serum was collected via jugular venipuncture into non-heparinized vacutainers. Calf height, weight, and length were recorded weekly, starting on d 0. Height was measured from the floor to the top of the withers with an L-shaped measuring stick that was adjustable to the wither height of the calf. Weight was measured with a weight scale, (Tru-Test; Model 700; Mount Wellington, New Zealand) and length was from the point of shoulder to ischium, or pin bone. On d 49, all calves were humanely euthanized at the MSU Meat Laboratory, and the right and left forelimbs collected at the middle of the radius. From the right and left forelimb of each calf, synovial fluid was collected from the radiocarpal, middle carpal, lateral fetlock, and medial fetlock joints. Synovial fluid was kept on dry ice during sampling, after which it was placed in a -80° C freezer until analysis. Cartilage from the proximal surface of the fused third and fourth metacarpal (MC III & IV) was collected from the right and left forelimb of each calf. Cartilage was kept on dry ice during sampling, then stored in a -20° C freezer until analysis. Synovial fluid and cartilage samples were collected within 30 min of animal death. After cartilage and synovial fluid sample collection, the front legs of each calf were labeled and placed in a chiller (4.8° C) overnight until computed tomography (CT) scanning.

44

Computed tomography scans

Computed tomography scans were performed at the MSU College of Veterinary Medicine in a GE Revolution Evo Scanner (Boston, Massachusetts). Both the right and left forelimb of each calf were CT scanned within 36 hours of euthanasia. Position was set to "lumbar spine", slice thickness was set at 0.625-mm, with settings of 120kV and 320 mAmp. Field of view was 180 mm with a 512 x 512 matrix size, leading to a pixel size of 0.35 mm x 0.35 mm. Voxel volume was 0.077 mm³ (0.35 mm x 0.35 mm x 0.625 mm). Calcium hydroxyapatite phantoms (Image Analysis, Inc; Colombia, KY) were included in each scan, with rows representing 0, 75, and 100 mg mineral/cm³ for BMD comparison. All CT scans were analyzed with Mimics 24.0 software (Materialise, Leuven, Belgium). For each MC III & IV and lateral and medial proximal phalanx bone, the proximal and distal end were recorded to calculate the midpoint of the bone. Measurements of BMD, area, and cortical widths were performed at the midpoint of each MC III & IV and lateral and medial proximal phalanx. Bone mineral density, cross sectional area, cortical widths, and cortical areas were determined with a mask threshold value of 400 Hounsfield Units (HU). Moment of inertia (MOI) was calculated from MC III & IV diameters measured in Mimics with the calculation for a hollow ellipse described in the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers (ASABE) standards [60,61,99]. Values for average BMD are reported as HU. Average HU values were recorded at each of the 3 concentrations of calcium along the length of the phantom at 10 locations for each scan. Average HU values for each concentration were then compared in a scatter plot to the known concentrations of the phantom. An equation from the regression line converted HU to mg mineral/cm³. This method of determining BMD from CT scans has been previously utilized [60,100].

Biomechanical testing

Before biomechanical testing, front legs were removed from the freezer (-20° C) to thaw for 5 days at 4.8° C in order to clean the MC III & IV. Skin, soft tissue, and remaining bones were removed with a scalpel so the fused MC III & IV to allow tensile testing of only the MC III and IV. Cleaned MC III & IV were then stored in the freezer until tensile testing (-20° C). Three days before tensile testing, MC III & IV were removed from the freezer to thaw at 4.8° C. Fracture force of the MC III & IV was determined by four-point bending at room temperature with an electromechanical testing system (MTS Criterion, Model 43) equipped with a 60 kN load cell. Left and right MC III & IV for each calf were placed individually with the palmar aspect of the bone facing upwards toward the force applicators [60]. The bottom supports were 82-mm apart, and upper supports, which applied the vertical force from the load cell, were 52-mm apart. All samples were loaded to failure at a rate of 10mm/min. Fracture force was recorded as the maximum force (ultimate load) before failure. Data acquisition rate was set to 100 Hz.

Osteocalcin

Calf serum samples were analyzed for OC concentration, a marker of bone formation reflecting osteoblastic activity, with the commercially available MicroVue Osteocalcin Enzyme Immunoassay (Quidel, San Diego, CA). Calf serum samples utilized for OC analysis were diluted at a 1:15 ratio with wash buffer for samples taken through week 4. At week 4, depending on individual calf samples, sera were diluted at 1:20 or 1:25 with wash buffer, without this dilution samples were outside of the threshold of sensitivity. Analysis was performed according to kit instructions. Coefficients of variation below 10% were accepted.

46

C-telopeptide crosslaps of type I collagen

Calf serum samples were analyzed for CTX-1 concentration, a marker of bone resorption, with the commercially available Serum CrossLaps kit made by Immunodiagnostics Systems (Gaithersburg, MD). Samples were run neat and analysis was performed according to kit instructions. Coefficients of variation below 10% were accepted.

Procollagen II c-propeptide

An ELISA kit from IBEX Pharmaceuticals (Montreal, Quebec, Canada) was obtained for analysis of CPII concentration in serum, a marker of collagen synthesis. This competitive assay measures CPII which is released from type-2 collagen during collagen synthesis. Serum samples were run in triplicate and with a 1:4 dilution, except d 0 which was run with a 1:2 dilution. Assay procedure was performed according to instructions accompanying the kit. Coefficients of variation below 10% were accepted.

Prostaglandin E₂ & Nitric oxide

Calf synovial fluid samples were analyzed for concentration of PGE₂ and NO, markers of inflammation. Fetlock joint synovial fluid samples were analyzed with the commercially available Thermo Fisher (Waltham, Massachusetts) PGE₂ ELISA kit. Due to supply chain issues, sufficient kits from Thermo Fisher for carpal synovial fluid were not able to be procured. Carpal synovial fluid samples were analyzed with a PGE₂ ELISA kit made by Enzo (Farmingdale, New York). Synovial fluid samples were digested with 50 µg/mL of hyaluronidase from bovine testes. Digested samples were diluted at a 1:2 ratio with reagent diluent, analysis was performed according to kit instructions. Coefficients of variation below 10% were accepted.

Nitric oxide was measured by quantifying nitrite (an end product of nitric oxide metabolism) using a Greiss reaction and sodium nitrite standard [101,102]. Samples were not digested with hyaluronidase or diluted, as this caused sample readings to be too low and outside of the threshold of sensitivity. Nitric oxide results are expressed in micromoles per well. Coefficients of variation below 30%, larger than with other assays, were accepted due to the variability of undigested and undiluted synovial fluid.

Glycosaminoglycan

Cartilage slices from the proximal surface of the MC III & IV were digested with papain to determine the GAG concentration with a dimethylmethylene blue assay [103]. This assay is based on the binding of anionic GAGs to cationic 1,9-dimethylmethylene blue. Sulfated GAG content was measured against a chondroitin sulfate standard, and sample concentration determined with a linear curve [101]. Papain digested samples were diluted 1:25 with a sodium acetate and tween dilution buffer. Coefficients of variation below 10% were accepted.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed in SAS 9.4. Residuals were plotted against predicted means and observed for normality. Nitric oxide data were found to be abnormally distributed and were log transformed to achieve normal distribution. All other data were found to be normally distributed. Height, weight, length, OC, CTX-1, and CPII were evaluated with the repeated effect of day, with calf as subject, fixed effects of day and treatment, as well as the interaction between day and treatment. Repeated measurements of OC, CTX-1, and CPII were run with d 0 as a covariate. Fracture force and glycosaminoglycan content were evaluated with fixed effects of leg (right or left) and treatment as well as the interaction between leg and

48

treatment, with calf as a random effect. Fetlock NO and PGE₂ concentration were evaluated with the fixed effects of treatment and joint (lateral or medial fetlock) and the interaction between treatment and joint. Carpal NO and PGE₂ concentration were evaluated with fixed effects of treatment and joint (radiocarpal or middle carpal) and the interaction between treatment and joint. Calf was included as a random effect for both fetlock and carpal NO and PGE₂. Fused MC III & IV CT data were evaluated with the fixed effects of treatment and leg, as well as the interaction between treatment and leg, calf was included as a random effect. Proximal phalanx CT data were evaluated with the fixed effects of treatment, leg, and bone (lateral or medial phalanx) and interactions, calf was included as a random effect. Means are reported as averages \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Error bars in graphs represent SEM. Significance was set at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at $P \le 0.10$.

RESULTS

Study day was a significant effect for calf height (P < 0.001), weight (P < 0.001), and length (P < 0.001), supporting animal growth throughout the study. The interaction between day and treatment was not significant for calf height, weight, or length (P = 0.99, P = 0.99, and P =0.68, respectively). Average daily gain (ADG) was not different among treatments (Table 2). On both d 0 and d 48, calf height, weight, and length were not different among treatments (Table 10).

Treatment	Height	Height	Weight	Weight	Length	Length	ADG,
	(d 0)	(d 48)	(d 0)	(d 48)	(d 0)	(d 48)	kg
	cm	cm	kg	kg	cm	cm	
Control	89	100	75	146	90	113	1.5
Large	88	100	81	145	90	112	1.3
Small	89	102	81	156	89	113	1.6
Treadmill	87	100	80	145	87	114	1.4
SEM	1.2	1.1	4.0	6.0	2.02	1.2	0.10
n	6	6	6	6	6	6	6
P – Value	0.52	0.51	0.71	0.44	0.71	0.61	0.17

Table 10: Initial (d 0) and final (d 48) calf height, weight, and length by treatment as well as average daily gain (ADG)

Fused MC III & IV CT scan results

There were no differences in MC III & IV internal or external diameters at the midpoint of the bone between left and right leg or treatments. There was no interaction between treatment and leg for dorsopalmar internal diameter (P = 0.54), mediolateral internal diameter (P = 0.42), or mediolateral external diameter (P = 0.54). There was a trend for an interaction between treatment and leg for dorsopalmar external diameter (P = 0.09). This interaction was driven by the right leg of the small circle treatment group having larger dorsopalmar external diameter than the left leg (P = 0.04). Moment of inertia was not different among treatments (P = 0.50), but there was a trend for an effect of leg (P = 0.10), with the left leg having higher moment of inertia. There was no interaction between treatment and leg (P = 0.15).

The bone length of MC III & IV was different among treatments (Table 11, P = 0.04), with large circle treatment group having shorter MC III & IV compared to all other treatments. There was no difference between left and right leg length (0.57) and no interaction between treatment and leg (P = 0.96). The cortical area was not different between leg (P = 0.15), or treatment (P = 0.057), but there was a trend for an interaction between treatment and leg (P = 0.057). This trend was driven by the left leg MC III & IV of the treadmill group having larger

cortical area then the right leg (P = 0.01). The cross-sectional area was not different between left and right legs (P = 0.42), treatment (P = 0.026), and there was no interaction between treatment and leg (P = 0.36).

Table 11: Bone length of the right and left metacarpal III & IV (MC III & IV) by treatment

Treatment	MC III & IV bone
	length, mm
Control	199 ^a
Large	192 ^b
Small	195 ^a
Treadmill	195 ^a
n	12
SEM	1.6
P – Value	0.04

^{a,b} Values lacking common superscripts within a column differ (P = 0.04)

For the dorsal, lateral, medial, and palmar cortices, as well as the entire slice of the midpoint, BMD was not different between left and right legs (P = 0.73, 0.64, 0.17, 0.82, and 0.12, respectively) nor treatment (0.95, 0.73, 0.76, 0.97, and 0.96, respectively). No interactions between leg and treatment were significant.

Dorsal, lateral, medial, and palmar cortical widths of the MC III & IV were not different among treatments (0.38, 0.86, 0.63, and 0.70, respectively). The medial cortex width of the MC III & IV tended to be larger for the left leg compared to the right leg (P = 0.063). No interactions between leg and treatment were significant.

Medial and lateral proximal phalanx CT scan results

Dorsopalmar internal and external diameter were not different among treatments (P = 0.68, 0.70), leg (P = 0.85, 0.64), or bone (P = 0.36, 0.53). Mediolateral internal and external diameter were not different among treatments (P = 0.90, 0.56) or leg (P = 0.84, 0.61). There was a difference between proximal phalanx bones with the medial proximal phalanx having greater

mediolateral internal (P = 0.0003) and mediolateral external diameter (P = 0.01). The interaction between treatment and bone was significant for the mediolateral external diameter (Table 12, P = 0.01).

0.01).

Treatment	Proximal	Dorsopalmar	Dorsopalmar	Mediolateral	Mediolateral
	phalanx	int diameter,	ext diameter,	int dimeter,	ext diameter,
	bone	mm	mm	mm	mm
Control	Lateral	20.7	25.5	17.2	23.6^{*}
	Medial	20.4	25.4	18.0	24.5^{*}
Large	Lateral	19.8	25.0	17.2	23.6
	Medial	20.1	25.2	17.4	23.8
Small	Lateral	20.1	25.4	17.1	23.7^{*}
	Medial	20.6	25.7	18.0	24.8^{*}
Treadmill	Lateral	19.9	24.9	17.2	23.5
	Medial	20.0	24.9	17.4	23.6
n		12	12	12	12
SEM		0.45	0.42	0.42	0.41
P-Value		0.44	0.63	0.26	0.01

Table 12: Internal (int) and external (ext) cortical diameters of the lateral and medial proximal phalanx of both front legs

^{*} Denotes lateral and medial proximal phalanx are different within a treatment (P = 0.01)

Proximal phalanx bone length was not different among treatments (P = 0.40), lateral or medial bones (P = 0.76), or the left and right legs (P = 0.72). No interactions were significant. Cortical area was not different among treatments (P = 0.65) or legs (P = 0.17) but was different between the lateral and medial proximal phalanx bones (P = 0.01), with the medial phalanx having greater cortical area. No interactions were significant. Cross sectional area was not different among treatments (P = 0.71), leg (P = 0.83) or proximal phalanx bones (P = 0.18). There was a tendency for an interaction between leg and bone (P = 0.07). This trend was driven by the right medial proximal phalanx having more area than the right lateral proximal phalanx (P = 0.03).

For the dorsal cortex, BMD was not different among treatments (P = 0.59) or leg (P =(0.79), but there was a trend for an interaction between leg and bone (Table 13, P = 0.07). Lateral cortical BMD was not different among treatments (P = 0.69) or leg (P = 0.75) but was different between proximal phalanx bones (P < 0.0001), with the lateral proximal phalanx having greater lateral cortical BMD than the medial proximal phalanx. Medial cortical BMD was not different among treatments (P = 0.30) or leg (P = 0.66) but was different between proximal phalanx bones (P < 0.0001), with the medial proximal phalanx having greater cortical BMD. There was a trend for an interaction between leg and bone (Table 13, P = 0.06). For the palmar cortex, BMD was not different among treatments, legs, or proximal phalanx bones (P = 0.75, P = 0.34 and P =0.20, respectively). There was a significant interaction between leg and bone (Table 13, P = 0.03) and a trend for an interaction between treatment and proximal phalanx bone (P = 0.07). This trend was driven by the palmar cortex in the medial proximal phalanxes of the treadmill group having greater density than the palmar cortex of the lateral proximal phalanxes (P = 0.005). For midpoint slice BMD, treatments and leg were not different (P = 0.67 and P = 0.40, respectively). There was a tendency for difference between the proximal phalanx bones (P = 0.08), with the medial proximal phalanx trending towards greater BMD. There was a significant interaction between leg and bone (Table 13, P = 0.001).

Leg	Proximal	Dorsal	Lateral	Medial	Palmar	Midpoint
	phalanx	cortex, mg	cortex, mg	cortex, mg	cortex, mg	slice, mg
	bone	mineral/cm ³				
Left	Lateral	845	959	728^{*}	799 [*]	737*
	Medial	855	776	974*	837*	764 [*]
Right	Lateral	853 [#]	973	769 [*]	812	759
	Medial	831#	755	949*	803	751
n		24	24	24	24	24
SEM		16	21	23	17	12
P-		0.07	0.19	0.06	0.03	0.001
Value						

Table 13: Cortical bone mineral density of the lateral and medial proximal phalanx of left and right legs

* Denotes lateral and medial proximal phalanx are different within the left or right leg (P < 0.05) # Denotes lateral and medial proximal phalanx tend to differ within the left or right leg (P < 0.10)

Dorsal, lateral, medial, and palmar cortical widths all had significant effects of phalanx

bone (Table 14). There were no effects for treatments or legs for cortical widths of the dorsal,

lateral, medial, or palmar cortices.

Proximal	Dorsal	Lateral	Medial	Palmar
phalanx	cortex,	cortex,	cortex,	cortex,
bone	mm	mm	mm	mm
Lateral	2.6 ^a	3.7 ^a	2.6 ^b	2.6 ^a
Medial	2.5 ^b	2.6 ^b	3.8 ^a	2.7 ^b
n	48	48	48	48
SEM	0.07	0.12	0.11	0.06
P-Value	0.04	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.02

Table 14: Cortical widths of the lateral and medial proximal phalanx of left and right front limbs

^{a,b} Values lacking common superscripts within a column differ (P < 0.05)

Fracture force of MC III & IV

There was no significant effect of treatment (P = 0.70) or leg (P = 0.88), but there was an interaction between treatment and leg (Table 15, P = 0.05), with the right fused MC III & IV of the treadmill treatment having lower fracture force than the left.

Treatment	Leg	Force (N)
Control	Left	8,700
	Right	9,300
Large	Left	8,800
	Right	9,200
Small	Left	10,100
	Right	10,400
Treadmill	Left	$9,400^{*}$
	Right	8,300*
n		6
SEM		960
P – Value		0.05

Table 15: Fracture force of calf MC III & IV by treatment and leg

* Denotes lateral and medial proximal phalanx are different within the left or right leg (P < 0.05) Average serum OC

There was a significant effect of day and treatment on average OC concentration (Figure 3, P < 0.001 and P = 0.049, respectively), with the small circle and treadmill exercise groups having greater osteocalcin concentration than the control group. Overall osteocalcin concentrations were higher on d 14 and 21. The interaction between day and treatment was not significant (P = 0.97).



Figure 3: Calf mean serum osteocalcin (OC) by treatment throughout the 7-week study period

^{a,b} Treatments lacking common superscripts differ (P = 0.05)

Average serum CTX-1

There was a significant effect of day on serum CTX-1 concentration (Figure 4, P = 0.02) but not treatment (P = 0.15). Day 0 had greater average concentration of CTX-1 than other dates. The interaction between day and treatment was not significant (P = 0.42).



Figure 4: Calf mean serum C-telopeptide crosslaps of type I collagen (CTX-1) by treatment throughout the 7-week study period

Average serum CPII

There was a trend for a treatment effect on serum CPII concentation (P = 0.08) and a day effect (P < 0.0001), with day 14, 21, 28, and 49 having lower concentrations than other days (Figure 5). The interaction between day and treatment was not significant (P = 0.73).



Figure 5: Calf mean procollagen II c-propeptide (CPII) by treatment throughout the 7-week study period

^{x,y} Treatments lacking common superscripts have a tendency to differ (P = 0.08) *Fetlock synovial fluid NO*

Treatment was a significant effect on synovial fluid NO concentration (Figure 6, P = 0.0005) with the large circle treatment having the highest concentration of NO. Joint was not a significant effect (P = 0.80) nor was the interaction of treatment and joint (P = 0.51).



Figure 6: Log transformed average nitric oxide (NO) concentration in the lateral and medial fetlock joints by treatment

^{a,b} Treatments lacking common superscripts differ (P = 0.0005)

Carpal synovial fluid NO

Treatment was not a significant effect on synovial fluid NO concentration (P = 0.27), but joint was (Figure 7, P < 0.0001), with middle carpal joints having greater average NO concentration than radiocarpal joints. The interaction of treatment and joint was not significant (P = 0.91).



Figure 7: Log transformed average nitric oxide (NO) concentration in the middle carpal and radiocarpal joints

^{a,b} Values lacking common superscripts differ (P < 0.0001)

Fetlock synovial fluid PGE₂

Treatment was not a significant effect on synovial fluid PGE2 (P = 0.99) but joint was (Figure 8, P = 0.0005), with both medial fetlock joints having greater average PGE2 concentration than the left lateral fetlock joint. The interaction of treatment and joint was not significant (P = 0.16).



Figure 8: Average prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) concentration in lateral and medial fetlock joints

^{a,b,c} Values lacking common superscripts differ (P = 0.0004)

Carpal synovial fluid PGE₂

Treatment was not a significant effect on synovial fluid PGE2 (P = 0.78) but joint was (Figure 9, P = 0.007), with the right radiocarpal joint having higher average concentration than both left and right middle carpal joints. The interaction of treatment and joint was not significant (P = 0.60).


Figure 9: Average prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) concentration in middle carpal and radiocarpal joints

^{a,b,c} Values lacking common superscripts differ (P = 0.007)

Cartilage glycosaminoglycan content

There was no significant effect of treatment (P = 0.73) or leg (P = 0.35), nor was the interaction between treatment and leg significant (P = 0.14). Within the control, large circle, and treadmill treatments, the left and right legs did not have different GAG concentration at the proximal surface of the MC III & IV (Table 16). However, it was determined that the left leg of the small circle exercise treatment had greater GAG concentration at the proximal surface of the MC III & IO (Table 16, P = 0.03).

Table 16: Average Glycosaminoglycan concentration in cartilage slices from the proximal surface of the MC III & IV by treatment and leg

Treatment	Leg	GAG (mg/g)
Control	Left	88
	Right	90
Large	Left	84
	Right	71
Small	Left	113 ^a
	Right	68 ^b
Treadmill	Left	79
	Right	99
n		6
SEM		14
P - Value		0.14

^{a,b} Values lacking common superscripts differ (P < 0.05)

DISCUSSION

This study utilized calves as a model for young horses to determine the impact circle diameter can have to joint and bone health of the front limbs. It was hypothesized that a smaller diameter circle would lead to asymmetry between inside and outside forelimbs and increased markers of joint inflammation and cartilage metabolism. This hypothesis is partially accepted, as bone morphology and cartilage GAG content differences were noted within the small circle exercise group, but differences in markers of joint inflammation were not observed within the small circle as a small circular exercise group.

Computed tomography scans in this study found the right (inside) leg of the small circle treatment group to have larger dorsopalmar external diameter than the left (outside) leg. In racing Thoroughbreds, the inside forelimb is the most common location for injuries (56% of catastrophic musculoskeletal injuries) [53]. While galloping around a turn the outside front limb has a pushing function, and the weight of the horse will be pushed forward and laterally onto the lead forelimb [34]. While there is great speed difference between the walking gait of calves in this study and

Thoroughbreds galloping around a turn, the location of bone adaptation in the small circle exercise calves seems to be a result of exercising on a turn.

Computed tomography analysis also identified treatment differences in the more-distally located proximal phalanxes. The small circle exercise group was found to have greater external mediolateral diameter in the medial phalanxes compared to the lateral phalanxes. This was also noted in the control treatment group. Both treadmill and large circle exercised animals had similar-sized lateral and medial phalanx external mediolateral diameter. The straight-line treadmill exercise and large circle exercise diameters being similar between the two phalanxes may suggest that the large circle exercise is more similar to straight-line exercise than the small circle exercise at such low speeds. Calves in the control treatment only had access to movement in the group housing pen. These movements may have included tight turns similar to the small circle exercise group.

Cortical density and widths of the proximal phalanxes were not impacted by treatment, but were however, different between the lateral and medial proximal phalanx bones. Very few studies have evaluated cortical bone characteristics of the proximal phalanxes in exercising horses or bovines. Horses have a single proximal phalanx unlike calves. This current study provides a necessary categorization of the differences in bovine lateral and medial proximal phalanxes which is important in the continued use of cloven-hoof species, such as calves, to serve as a skeletal model for equines. Lack of treatment differences between cortical widths and BMD from computed tomography are not surprising. It is known that dynamic exercise, such as sprinting, leads to bone adaptations [60–62,104]. As has been previously determined, gait is an important factor in the response of loading during circular exercise [91]. In this study, exercise only occurred at slow speeds of 1.1–1.5 m/s, leading to a walking gait for the calves, and no treatment differences

between cortical widths or BMD. Based on the mechanostat theorem, localized strain within 1500-2500 microstrain will lead to bone maintenance, but greater strain will lead to a formation response in bone in order to reduce strain [90,105]. A limitation of this current study is that strain was not evaluated or calculated. Stride rate or other gait characteristics were not recorded in this study to allow for strain calculation. Strain evaluation among the cortexes of the MC III & IV would aid in the determination of calf bone response to circular exercise, treadmill exercise, as well as the free exercise in group housing.

The fracture force of the MC III & IV was found to be lower for the right leg of the treadmill exercise treatment group compared to the left. Similarly, the left MC III & IV of the treadmill group was found to have larger cortical area than the right leg. During treadmill exercise, calves wore rope halters which were tied with a quick release knot to either the left or the right side of the treadmill depending on which side of the treadmill the calves were on. Depending on calf size, between 2 and 4 calves could fit on the treadmill at a time. During the last week of the study, calves were large enough that only two calves could fit on the treadmill at once, both tied to the left side of the treadmill as handlers were only able to stand on the left side of the treadmill. While calves were tied with their rope halter loose enough so that they were encouraged to travel straight, there is a potential that having their rope halter tied to their left side could have caused asymmetric loading between the right and left forelimb. Kinematics between treadmill and over ground exercise are not identical. Exercise on a treadmill exposes animals to footing that is different than that of normal ground surfaces. Treadmill exercise can impact gait factors, such as a longer stance duration of the forelimbs at the trot, less lumbar motion at the trot, and longer stride length at the canter [106]. The difference between the right and left MC III & IV fracture force may have simply been a result of a small number of animals on each treatment, and not method of exercise, but both

possibilities should be noted. The presence of a shorter MC III & IV for the large circular exercise group is most likely due to very little variation of bone length within and among treatments, causing for a relatively small SEM that could allow any minor difference, whether related to exercise treatment or not, to be found significant.

Similar to bone morphology, some treatment differences, as well as multiple joint differences, were found in markers of joint inflammation and metabolism, NO and PGE₂. Average fetlock NO concentration was found to be greatest in the large circular exercise treatment. During the first two weeks of exercise the large circle calves were reluctant to exercise, and while they maintained an average speed within the range of this study, they often paused during exercise and needed verbal encouragement to begin walking again. Once they began walking again they needed to take a few steps at a faster stride to avoid getting shocked by the panels in the electric walker. The small circle exercise and treadmill groups exercised continually with no pauses in a walking session unlike the large circle group. This behavioral difference may contribute to the greater concentration of NO in the large circle exercise groups. It is also worth noting in this study, there was large variation of NO concentration in synovial fluid samples due to the viscous nature of undiluted and un-digested synovial fluid. Future studies may have more success evaluating NO concentration in serum.

In this study we specifically chose not to compare results of the fetlock synovial fluid to the carpal synovial fluid, understanding that the range of motion and relative loading of these joints are vastly different due to their locations. However, differences within fetlock and carpal joints were found. The carpal NO concentration was different between locations, with middle carpal joints having higher NO concentration than radiocarpal joints, providing further categorization of joint characteristics of cloven-hooved animals. Nitric oxide is considered to be important in the initiation of repair and attracts bone cells to the site of injury. NO may also be involved in the regulation of osteoclasts, as *in vitro* osteoclast cell death has been found after high doses of NO [107]. NO can lead to dysregulation of osteoblast and osteoclast balance, which can result in cartilage destruction through chondrocyte apoptosis [108]. Fetlock PGE₂ was greater in medial fetlock joints than lateral fetlock joints of both legs. Carpal PGE₂ was lower for the right middle carpal compared to left and right radiocarpal joints regardless of treatment. Synovial fluid PGE2 in two-year-old horses and dogs has been found to increase after surgically-induced osteoarthritis [94,109]. Middle carpal NO concentration was greater than radiocarpal, but middle carpal PGE_2 concentration was lower than the radiocarpal. Injuries to carpal joints have been found to vary based on animal function. Middle carpal joint injuries are found frequently in racing horses due to repeated trauma, but pleasure and sport horses are found with osteoarthritis most commonly in the radiocarpal joint [110]. Exercise performed in this study did not impact fetlock or carpal PGE₂ concentration. In this study, synovial fluid concentrations of NO and PGE₂ were mostly influenced by joint location, similar to the proximal phalanx bone location. These results provide important information on joint-based differences of biomarkers in calves, which have not been previously analyzed as a result of exercise.

Determination of GAG content in the proximal surface of MC III & IV was not different among treatments. It has been previously speculated that in 15-wk-old calves, the joints may still be homogeneous and GAG content was not influenced by short-duration exercise [98]. In this study within the small circle exercise group the left (outside) leg had greater GAG content in the MC III & IV proximal surface compared to the right (inside) leg. Another study found, after a 5month period, horses confined to box stalls had elevated cartilage GAG content compared to horses afforded pasture access [111]. As has been previously discussed, lean angle is increased as a result of smaller radii circles and has the potential for uneven loading between the inside and outside limbs [8,29,67]. With only 6 animals per treatment, and exercise at a slow rate of speed in this study, treatment differences may not have been detectable. However, a future experiment with a combination of more animals and higher speeds may find GAG content to be different between cartilage surfaces of the front limbs.

Average OC, a marker of osteoblastic activity and thus bone formation [112], was greater for the small circle and treadmill exercise treatments compared to the control treatment. However, the large circle group was not greater than the control exercise group. During the first two weeks of exercise the large circular exercise calves were reluctant to exercise and needed encouragement to achieve the basic requirements of exercise at 1.1–1.5 m/s. However, the treadmill and small circle exercise treatment groups were amenable to exercise and needed less auditory coercion to continue to exercise at the speed required for the study. In this study, behavior was not evaluated or analyzed, but the described behavioral differences may have been a contributing factor to the treatment differences in average OC concentration. A limitation of this study is the lack of internal load indicators evaluated during exercise. Future studies including an analysis of internal load of exercising calves, such as heart rate response, can aid in characterizing more of the psychophysiological response of calves to exercise [113].

Average OC, CTX-1, and CPII were different among treatments on d 0, thus, d 0 was a significant covariate for all serum markers. All calves were randomly assigned to treatments and striated based on weight at d 0, assuring that each treatment had calves of equal sizes at the start of the study. Calves were transported to the farm one week before d 0. In future studies utilizing calves for exercise, animals may need more than one week for housing acclimation before beginning exercise. It is interesting to note, that in the middle of the study, on days 14, 21, and 28,

CPII concentration appears to decrease, then increase after day 28. At this time, OC was also elevated. By d 14 all treatment groups were acclimated to their exercise treatments and successfully exercising with little coercion. These day differences observed may be a result of calves settling into their exercise and housing after acclimation. The lack of day effects in CTX-1 after d 0 is not surprising, as calf serum CTX-1 has not previously exhibited a day effect during sprint exercise or confinement [60].

CONCLUSIONS

Circular exercise is used frequently, and by varying methods across the equine industry. Circle size, speed of travel, and training of the animal are all factors which should be considered when utilizing circular exercise. Based on the results of this study, altering circle size can impact joint and bone health, with a smaller circle size leading to differences in bone diameters as well as cartilage glycosaminoglycan content. This study provides initial characterization of physiological responses to circular exercise performed by calves on a walker at slow speeds. Results from this study, coupled with other studies available in the literature suggest that circular exercise, even at a slow speed, can impact joint and bone health of young animals. The circular exercise in this study was performed at slow speeds, and for a duration of 7 weeks, a very short time span in relation to horse training. Alteration of speed or duration of exercise could eventually lead to greater changes to bone morphology and biomarkers. Further information needs to be explored on circular exercise, such as the impact of different styles of riding, presence of a rider, and effect to the hind limb function. Handlers and riders utilizing circular exercise should recognize the manner in which they exercise animals can impact overall health, and should consider the circle size at which animals exercise to be a factor contributing to bone and joint health.

APPENDIX



Figure S1: Equation utilized to calculate bone mineral density (BMD) of values measured in computed tomography (CT) scans

¹Hounsfield Units (HU): Values along the x-axis are average HU values obtained from CT scans

²Bone Mineral Density (BMD): Values along the y-axis are known concentrations of rows in the hydroxyapatite phantom $(0, 75, \text{ and } 150 \text{ mg mineral/cm}^3)$

Day	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	Length (cm)
0	88 ^g	78 ^g	89 ^e
7	90 ^f	90 ^f	89 ^e
14	92 ^e	87 ^f	95 ^d
21	96 ^d	108 ^e	95 ^d
28	96 ^d	119 ^d	103 ^c
35	98°	130 ^c	104 ^c
42	99 ^b	140 ^b	109 ^b
48	100 ^a	148 ^a	113 ^a
SEM	1	3	1
P – Value	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.001

Table S1: Calf height, weight, and length expressed throughout the weekly measurements

^{a,b,c,d,e,f,g} Values lacking common superscripts within a column differ (P < 0.001)

Table S2: Internal (int) and external (ext) dorsopalmar and mediolateral diameters as well as moment of inertia (MOI) from cross-sectional views at the midpoint of fused metacarpal III & IV of left and right front legs

Treatment	Dorsopalmar	Dorsopalmar	Mediolateral	Mediolateral	MOI,
	int, mm	ext, mm	int, mm	ext, mm	mm^4
Control	12	21	17	29	11,600
Large	12	21	19	29	11,200
Small	12	22	18	30	12,900
Treadmill	12	21	17	28	11,500
SEM	0.40	0.39	0.52	0.61	820
P – Value	0.60	0.27	0.16	0.29	0.50

Table S3: Cortical and midpoint slice bone density of metacarpal III & IV (MC III & IV) of left and right front legs

Treatment	Dorsal	Lateral	Medial	Palmar	Midpoint
	cortex, mg	cortex, mg	cortex, mg	cortex, mg	slice, mg
	mineral/cm ³				
Control	1,240	1,220	1,220	1,060	1,030
Large	1,240	1,240	1,230	1,070	1,030
Small	1,250	1,230	1,240	1,070	1,040
Treadmill	1,250	1,230	1,240	1,060	1,030
SEM	21	12	14	17	11
P – Value	0.95	0.73	0.76	0.97	0.96

Table S4: Cortical widths at midpoint of the metacarpal III & IV (MC III & IV) of left and right front legs

Treatment	Dorsal	Lateral	Medial	Palmar
	cortex, mm	cortex, mm	cortex, mm	cortex, mm
Control	5.0	5.6	5.7	4.1
Large	5.0	5.2	5.2	3.9
Small	5.4	5.4	5.7	4.0
Treadmill	5.2	5.4	5.5	4.2
SEM	0.20	0.31	0.28	0.21
P – Value	0.38	0.86	0.63	0.70

Leg	Dorsal	Lateral	Medial	Palmar
	cortex, mm	cortex, mm	cortex, mm	cortex, mm
Left	5.15	5.44	5.62 ^x	4.12
Right	5.11	5.35	5.40 ^y	4.01
n	24	24	24	24
SEM	0.11	0.16	0.15	0.11
P – Value	0.48	0.40	0.06	0.21

Table S5: Dorsal, lateral, medial, and palmar cortical widths of the metacarpal III & IV separated by left and right leg

^{x,y} Values lacking common superscripts within a column tend to differ (P < 0.06)

CHAPTER 5: Overall discussion and conclusions

Compared to straight-line exercise, it is considerably more difficult to determine the overall effects of circular exercise in horses. Radius and gait speed can both be altered independently, but also simultaneously, making for infinite combinations of radius and gait speed. When studying quadrupeds, the impact of radius, gait, as well as radius and gait has the potential to be unique to all four limbs, as well as the possible combinations of limbs (forelimbs, hindlimbs, inside limbs, outside limbs, or diagonal pairs), and the rest of the musculoskeletal system. Outside of alterations to radius and gait, there are multiple methods to circular exercise: round pen, ridden, lunged, mechanical walker. All these methods, combined with varying radii and gaits, provide exponentially more unique situations of circular exercise to evaluate. This concluding chapter is prefaced with these limitations to recognize that the research performed in this dissertation, and the previously published research that exists on the topic, truly have only been able to evaluate a small sector of the impacts of circular exercise to equine health.

Specifically, this dissertation found that in horses exercising on a 10-m or 15-m circle, the area loaded by the outside front hoof is greater at the canter than the walk or trot. In this study, we expected to find that circle size would have an impact for forelimb average solar area, vertical force, and pressure outputs. This was not the case, only the gait (walk, trot, or canter) impacted the outputs. In this study, horses were exercised in a round pen with no physical restraint, and only auditory or visual encouragement to travel at a specific gait. Of particular interest is how utilization of a lunge line and halter to restrain a horse instead of a round pen would impact forelimb outputs. The use of lunging with simply a halter and lunge line is incredibly common as a method of exercise and training and is utilized by handlers of varying skill levels. Combinations of circle size, gait, and handler experience would be interesting to

74

evaluate. Of course, a rider can also impact how a horse travels; unpublished data in our lab found that a professional rider on a horse leads to lower peak force when traveling straight or in a circle. This is a very small slice of data that has not been evaluated statistically nor with numerous horse/rider combinations. This early relationship found in the preliminary data and supported with other studies is an exciting area to consider for future research.

During the above-mentioned study, the TekscanTM Hoof System was used to determine loaded area and force, and subsequently calculated pressure. This system needs further development for use in circular exercise, especially at speeds above a walk and moderate trot. The material which the sensors are embedded in is not strong enough on its own to withstand loading from horses, and environmental exposure to dirt and moisture. Further experimentation is needed to evaluate a sealing method which aids the durability of the sensors, but also allows for collection of data without hindering natural movement.

When using calves as a model for juvenile horses, it was found that even at a slow, walking gait, circular exercise for 7 weeks led to potentially negative impacts in bone and joint health at a small circle (12-m). Ideally, the calves would have travelled at a trotting gait, but unfortunately they were not willing to travel at a trot for a long duration on a mechanical walker or treadmill. While faster speed would have been preferred, horses are frequently exercised at a walk on mechanical walkers, allowing connections between these results and the equine industry to be made. While calves in this study were reluctant to exercise faster than a walk, other studies in the Spartan Equine Research Lab have found that sheep will exercise at faster speeds willingly and safely. Future studies are in development to utilize a sheep model which can tolerate mechanical walker and treadmill exercise at faster speeds for longer durations. Using older,

75

exercise trained bovines may also be an option, but these animals may need housing and management needs that are more expensive than using sheep as an equine model.

A researcher could spend the lifetime of their career and beyond evaluating the many combinations of circular exercise radius, gait of travel, method of exercise, and their infinite combinations. However, before losing oneself to the depths of possibility in research, one should remember the reason for the research: the horse. Beneficial application of this topic of research is to find the combination which is most beneficial to the horse, and could prevent injuries, while providing an effective, and safe method of exercise for both human and horse. This priority of horse health and safety should not only be recognized by researchers, but also riders, trainers, breeders, governing associations, and spectators alike. Instead of determining which circle size, speed, and method elicits to the least amount of damage in the horse, we may need to incur a change in how horses are trained and evaluated, and put less priority on small, repetitive maneuvers, that are not beneficial to the overall health, purpose, of affective state of the horse. LITERATURE CITED

LITERATURE CITED

- [1] Rivera E, Benjamin S, Nielsen B, Shelle J, Zanella AJ. Behavioral and physiological responses of horses to initial training: the comparison between pastured versus stalled horses. Appl Anim Behav Sci 2002;78:235–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(02)00091-6.
- [2] Visser EK, Van Reenen CG, Engel B, Schilder MBH, Barneveld A, Blokhuis HJ. The association between performance in show-jumping and personality traits earlier in life. Appl Anim Behav Sci 2003;82:279–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(03)00083-2.
- [3] Morrice-West A V., Hitchens PL, Walmsley EA, Chris Whitton R. Track surfaces used for ridden workouts and alternatives to ridden exercise for thoroughbred horses in race training. Animals 2018;8:221. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8120221.
- [4] Atalaia T, Prazeres J, Abrantes J, Clayton HM. Equine rehabilitation: A scoping review of the literature. Animals 2021;11:1508. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11061508.
- [5] Mackechnie-Guire R, Mackechnie-Guire E, Bush R, Fisher D, Fisher M, Weller R. Local back pressure caused by a training roller during lunging with and without a Pessoa training aid. J Equine Vet Sci 2018;67:112–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JEVS.2018.03.018.
- [6] Dyson S, Greve L. Subjective gait assessment of 57 sports horses in normal work: A comparison of the response to flexion tests, movement in hand, on the lunge, and ridden. J Equine Vet Sci 2016;38:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2015.12.012.
- [7] Starke SD, Willems E, May SA, Pfau T. Vertical head and trunk movement adaptations of sound horses trotting in a circle on a hard surface. Vet J 2012;193:73–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2011.10.019.
- [8] Greve L, Dyson S. What can we learn from visual and objective assessment of non-lame and lame horses in straight lines, on the lunge and ridden? Equine Vet Educ 2020;32:479–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/EVE.13016.
- [9] Pfau T, Stubbs NC, Kaiser LJ, Brown LEA, Clayton HM. Effect of trotting speed and circle radius on movement symmetry in horses during lunging on a soft surface. Am J Vet Res 2012;73:1890–9. https://doi.org/10.2460/AJVR.73.12.1890.
- [10] Greve L, Dyson S. Body lean angle in sound dressage horses in-hand, on the lunge and ridden. Vet J 2016;217:52–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2016.06.004.

- [11] Parkes RSV, Pfau T, Weller R, Witte TH. The effect of curve running on distal limb kinematics in the Thoroughbred racehorse. PLoS One 2020;15:e0244105. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244105.
- [12] Chang Y-H, Kram R. Limitations to maximum running speed on flat curves. J Exp Biol 2007;210:971–82. https://doi.org/10.1242/JEB.02728.
- [13] Ishimura K, Sakurai S. Asymmetry in Determinants of Running Speed During Curved Sprinting. J Appl Biomech 2016;32:394–400. https://doi.org/10.1123/JAB.2015-0127.
- [14] Ferro A, Floria P. Differences in 200-m sprint running performance between outdoor and indoor venues. J Strength Cond Res 2013;27:83–8. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0B013E31824F21C6.
- [15] Tottori N, Kurihara T, Otsuka M, Isaka T. Relationship between lateral differences in the cross-sectional area of the psoas muscle and curve running time. J Physiol Anthropol 2016;35:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40101-016-0086-6/TABLES/2.
- [16] Kawamoto R, Ishige Y, Watarai K, Fukashiro S. Influence of curve sharpness on torsional loading of the tibia in running. J Appl Biomech 2002;18:218–30. https://doi.org/10.1123/JAB.18.3.218.
- [17] Witte TH, Knill K, Wilson AM. Determination of peak vertical ground reaction force from duty factor in the horse (Equus caballus). J Exp Biol 2004;207:3639–48. https://doi.org/10.1242/JEB.01182.
- [18] Robartes H, Fairhurst H, Pfau T. Head and pelvic movement symmetry in horses during circular motion and in rising trot. Vet J 2013;198:e52–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TVJL.2013.09.033.
- [19] Evans DL. Welfare of the Racehorse During Exercise Training and Racing. In: Waran N, editor. Welf. Horses, vol. 1, Springer, Dordrecht; 2007, p. 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-306-48215-1_8.
- [20] Parkes RSV, Weller R, Pfau T, Witte TH. The effect of training on stride duration in a cohort of two-year-old and three-year-old thoroughbred racehorses. Animals 2019;9:466. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9070466.
- [21] Churchill SM, Trewartha G, Salo AIT. Bend sprinting performance: new insights into the effect of running lane. Sport Biomech 2019;18:437–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2018.1427279.

- [22] Pratt GW. Model for injury to the foreleg of the Thoroughbred racehorse. Equine Vet J 1997;29:30–2. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2042-3306.1997.TB05048.X.
- [23] Biknevicius AR, Mullineaux DR, Clayton HM. Ground reaction forces and limb function in tölting Icelandic horses. Equine Vet. J., vol. 36, British Equine Veterinary Association; 2004, p. 743–7. https://doi.org/10.2746/0425164044848190.
- [24] Hodson E, Clayton HM, Lanovaz JL. The hindlimb in walking horses: 1. Kinematics and ground reaction forces. Equine Vet J 2001;33:38–43. https://doi.org/10.2746/042516401776767485.
- [25] Clayton HM, Hobbs SJ. Ground reaction forces of dressage horses performing the piaffe. Animals 2021;11:436. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11020436.
- [26] Palmer A, Rogers C, Stafford K, Gal A, Bolwell C. A retrospective descriptive analysis of race-day injuries of greyhounds in New Zealand. Aust Vet J 2021:avj.13064. https://doi.org/10.1111/avj.13064.
- [27] Sicard GK, Short K, Manley PA. A survey of injuries at five greyhound racing tracks. J Small Anim Pract 1999;40:428–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1748-5827.1999.TB03117.X.
- [28] Mahdavi F, Hossain MI, Hayati H, Eager D, Kennedy P. Track Shape, Resulting Dynamics and Injury Rates of Greyhounds. ASME Int Mech Eng Congr Expo Proc 2019;13. https://doi.org/10.1115/IMECE2018-87156.
- [29] Hobbs SJ, Licka T, Polman R. The difference in kinematics of horses walking, trotting and cantering on a flat and banked 10 m circle. Equine Vet J 2011;43:686–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2042-3306.2010.00334.X.
- [30] Parkes R, Newton R, Dyson S. Is there an association between clinical features, response to diagnostic analgesia and radiological findings in horses with a magnetic resonance imaging diagnosis of navicular disease or other injuries of the podotrochlear apparatus? Vet J 2015;204:40–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TVJL.2014.12.038.
- [31] Murray RC, Walters JM, Snart H, Dyson SJ, Parkin TDH. Identification of risk factors for lameness in dressage horses. Vet J 2010;184:27–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvj1.2009.03.020.
- [32] Clayton HM, Hobbs SJ. The role of biomechanical analysis of horse and rider in equitation science. Appl Anim Behav Sci 2017;190:123–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2017.02.011.

- [33] Back W, Schamhardt HC, Barneveld A. Kinematic comparison of the leading and trailing fore- and hindlimbs at the canter. Equine Vet J Suppl 1997:80–3. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2042-3306.1997.TB05060.X.
- [34] Nunamaker DM, Butterweck DM, Provost MT. Some geometric properties of the third metacarpal bone: a comparison between the Thoroughbred and Standardbred racehorse. J Biomech 1989;22:129–34.
- [35] Nicodemus MC, Booker JE. Two-dimensional kinematics of the jog and lope of the stock breed western pleasure horse. Equine Comp Exerc Physiol 2007;4:59–70. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1478061507811467.
- [36] Brocklehurst C, Weller R, Pfau T. Effect of turn direction on body lean angle in the horse in trot and canter. Vet J 2014;199:258–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2013.11.009.
- [37] Peterson M, Sanderson W, Kussainov N, Hobbs SJ, Miles P, Scollay MC, et al. Effects of Racing Surface and Turn Radius on Fatal Limb Fractures in Thoroughbred Racehorses. Sustain 2021, Vol 13, Page 539 2021;13:539. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU13020539.
- [38] Fenton JI, Orth MW, Chlebek-Brown KA, Nielsen BD, Corn CD, Waite KS, et al. Effect of Longeing and Glucosamine Supplementation on Serum Markers of Bone and Joint Metabolism in Yearling Quarter Horses. Can J Vet Res 1999;63:288–91.
- [39] Brocklehurst C, Weller R, Pfau T. Effect of turn direction on body lean angle in the horse in trot and canter. Vet J 2014;199:258–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2013.11.009.
- [40] Barstow A, Dyson S. Clinical features and diagnosis of sacroiliac joint region pain in 296 horses: 2004-2014. Equine Vet Educ 2015;27:637–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/EVE.12377/FORMAT/PDF.
- [41] Pfau T, Scott WM, Sternberg Allen T. Upper Body Movement Symmetry in Reining Quarter Horses during Trot In-Hand, on the Lunge and during Ridden Exercise. Animals 2022;12:596. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI12050596/S1.
- [42] MacKechnie-Guire R, MacKechnie-Guire E, Fairfax V, Fisher M, Hargreaves S, Pfau T. The Effect That Induced Rider Asymmetry Has on Equine Locomotion and the Range of Motion of the Thoracolumbar Spine When Ridden in Rising Trot. J Equine Vet Sci 2020;88:102946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2020.102946.
- [43] Gunst S, Dittmann MT, Arpagaus S, Roepstorff C, Latif SN, Klaassen B, et al. Influence of Functional Rider and Horse Asymmetries on Saddle Force Distribution During Stance and in Sitting Trot. J Equine Vet Sci 2019;78:20–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2019.03.215.

- [44] Licka T, Kapaun M, Peham C. Influence of rider on lameness in trotting horses. Equine Vet J 2010;36:734–6. https://doi.org/10.2746/0425164044848028.
- [45] Peham C, Licka T, Schobesberger H, Meschan E. Influence of the rider on the variability of the equine gait. Hum Mov Sci 2004;23:663–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2004.10.006.
- [46] Beisser A, McClure S, Rezabek G, Soring KH, Wang C. Frequency of and risk factors associated with catastrophic musculoskeletal injuries in Quarter Horses at two Midwestern racetracks: 67 cases (2000–2011). J Am Vet Med Assoc 2014;245:1160–8. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.245.10.1160.
- [47] McIlwraith CW, Kawcak CE, Frisbie DD, Little CB, Clegg PD, Peffers MJ, et al. Biomarkers for equine joint injury and osteoarthritis. J Orthop Res 2018;36:823–31. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.23738.
- [48] Johnson SA, Donnell JR, Donnell AD, Frisbie DD. Retrospective analysis of lameness localisation in Western Performance Horses: A ten-year review. Equine Vet J 2021;53:1150–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/evj.13397.
- [49] Scott M. Musculoskeletal Injuries in Nonracing Quarter Horses. Vet Clin North Am -Equine Pract 2008;24:133–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cveq.2007.11.006.
- [50] Orsini JA, Ryan WG, Boston RC. Evaluation of oral administration of firocoxib for the management of musculoskeletal pain and lameness associated with osteoarthritis in horses and Wounds Involving Bone View project. Artic Am J Vet Res 2012. https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.73.5.664.
- [51] Davies HMS, Merritt JS. Surface strains around the midshaft of the third metacarpal bone during turning. Equine Vet J 2004;36:689–92. https://doi.org/10.2746/0425164044848109.
- [52] Goldstein DM, Engiles JB, Rezabek GB, Ruff CB. Locomotion on the edge: Structural properties of the third metacarpal in Thoroughbred and Quarter Horse racehorses and feral Assateague Island ponies. Anat Rec 2021;304:771–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/AR.24485.
- [53] Beisser AL, McClure S, Wang C, Soring K, Garrison R, Peckham B. Evaluation of catastrophic musculoskeletal injuries in Thoroughbreds and Quarter Horses at three Midwestern racetracks. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2011;239:1236–41. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.239.9.1236.
- [54] Rooney JR. Impulse and breakdown on straights and turns in racehorses. J Equine Vet Sci 1983;3:137–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0737-0806(83)80056-2.

- [55] McGreevy PD, Thomson PC. Differences in motor laterality between breeds of performance horse. Appl Anim Behav Sci 2006;99:183–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2005.09.010.
- [56] Mizobe F, Takahashi Y, Kusano K. Risk Factors for Jockey Falls in Japanese Thoroughbred Flat Racing. J Equine Vet Sci 2021;106:103749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2021.103749.
- [57] Fredricson I, Dalin G, Drevemo S, Hjerten' G, Alm L 0. A Biotechnical Approach to the Geometric Design of Racetracks. Equine Vet J 1975;7:96.
- [58] Oikawa M, Ueda Y, Inada S, Tsuchikawa T, Kusano H, Takeda A. Effect of restructuring of a racetrack on the occurrence of racing injuries in thoroughbred horses. J Equine Vet Sci 1994;14:262–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0737-0806(06)81951-9.
- [59] Evans DL, Walsh JS. Effect of increasing the banking of a racetrack on the occurrence of injury and lameness in standardbred horses. Aust Vet J 1997;75:751–2. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1751-0813.1997.TB12261.X.
- [60] Logan AA, Nielsen BD, Robison CI, Manfredi JM, Buskirk DD, Schott HC, et al. Calves, as a model for juvenile horses, need only one sprint per week to experience increased bone strength. J Anim Sci 2019;97:3300–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skz202.
- [61] Hiney KM, Nielsen BD, Rosenstein D, Orth MW, Marks BP. High-intensity exercise of short duration alters bovine bone density and shape. J Anim Sci 2004;82:1612–20. https://doi.org//2004.8261612x.
- [62] Hiney KM, Nielsen BD, Rosenstein D. Short-duration exercise and confinement alters bone mineral content and shape in weanling horses. J Anim Sci 2004;82:2313–20. https://doi.org/10.2527/2004.8282313x.
- [63] Nielsen BD, Potter GD, Morris EL, Odom TW, Senor DM, Reynolds J a., et al. Changes in the third metacarpal bone and frequency of bone injuries in young quarter horses during race training - observations and theoretical considerations. J Equine Vet Sci 1997;17:541– 9. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0737-0806(97)80227-4.
- [64] Clayton HM, Sha DH. Head and body centre of mass movement in horses trotting on a circular path. Equine Vet J 2006;38:462–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2042-3306.2006.TB05588.X.
- [65] Clayton HM, Hobbs SJ. A review of biomechanical gait classification with reference to collected trot, passage and piaffe in dressage horses. Animals 2019:1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9100763.

- [66] Gessel T, Harrast MA. Running dose and risk of developing lower-extremity osteoarthritis. Curr Sports Med Rep 2019;18:201–9. https://doi.org/10.1249/JSR.00000000000000602.
- [67] Chateau H, Camus M, Holden-Douilly L, Falala S, Ravary B, Vergari C, et al. Kinetics of the forelimb in horses circling on different ground surfaces at the trot. Vet J 2013;198:e20–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2013.09.028.
- [68] Logan AA, Nielsen BD, Hallock DB, Robison CI, Popovich JM. 27 Within- and betweensession reliability of the TekscanTM Hoof System with a glue-on shoe. J Equine Vet Sci 2021;100:103490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2021.103490.
- [69] Caldwell MN, Allan LA, Pinchbeck GL, Clegg PD, Kissick KE, Milner PI. A test of the universal applicability of a commonly used principle of hoof balance. Vet J 2016;207:169–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2015.10.003.
- [70] Oehme B, Grund S, Munzel J, Mülling CKW. Kinetic effect of different ground conditions on the sole of the claws of standing and walking dairy cows. J Dairy Sci 2019;102:10119–28. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-16183.
- [71] Hüppler M, Häfner F, Geiger S, Mäder D, Hagen J. Modifying the surface of horseshoes: Effects of eggbar, heartbar, open toe, and wide toe shoes on the phalangeal alignment, pressure distribution, and the footing pattern. J Equine Vet Sci 2016;37:86–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2015.12.009.
- [72] Hagen J, Hüppler M, Häfner F, Geiger S, Mäder D. Modifying horseshoes in the mediolateral plane: effects of side wedge, wide branch, and unilateral roller shoes on the phalangeal alignment, pressure forces, and the footing pattern. J Equine Vet Sci 2016;37:77–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2015.12.001.
- [73] Judy CE, Galuppo LD, Snyder JR, Willits NH. Evaluation of an in-shoe pressure measurement system in horses. Am J Vet Res 2001;62:23–8. https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.2001.62.23.
- [74] Al Naem M, Litzke LF, Failing K, Burk J, Röcken M. Hoof kinetic patterns differ between sound and laminitic horses. Equine Vet J 2020;00:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/evj.13311.
- [75] Reilly PT. In-Shoe Force Measurements and Hoof Balance. J Equine Vet Sci 2010;30:475–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2010.07.013.
- [76] Perino V V., Kawcak CE, Frisbie DD, Reiser RF, McIlwraith CW. The accuracy and precision of an equine in-shoe pressure measurement system as a tool for gait analysis. J

Equine Vet Sci 2007;27:161–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2007.02.006.

- [77] Weishaupt MA, Hogg HP, Auer JA, Wiestner T. Velocity-dependent changes of time, force and spatial parameters in Warmblood horses walking and trotting on a treadmill. Equine Vet J 2010;42:530–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-3306.2010.00190.x.
- [78] Biewener AA, Thomason J, Goodship A, Lanyon LE. Bone stress in the horse forelimb during locomotion at different gaits: A comparison of two experimental methods. J Biomech 1983;16:565–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9290(83)90107-0.
- [79] Clayton HM, Hobbs SJ. Ground reaction forces: The Sine Qua Non of legged locomotion. J Equine Vet Sci 2019;76:25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2019.02.022.
- [80] Byström A, Clayton HM, Hernlund E, Rhodin M, Egenvall A. Equestrian and biomechanical perspectives on laterality in the horse. Comp Exerc Physiol 2020;16:35–45. https://doi.org/10.3920/CEP190022.
- [81] Oosterlinck M, Pille F, Back W, Dewulf J, Gasthuys F. A pressure plate study on fore and hindlimb loading and the association with hoof contact area in sound ponies at the walk and trot. Vet J 2011;190:71–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2010.08.016.
- [82] Greve L, Pfau T, Dyson S. Thoracolumbar movement in sound horses trotting in straight lines in hand and on the lunge and the relationship with hind limb symmetry or asymmetry. Vet J 2017;220:95–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2017.01.003.
- [83] Hobbs SJ, Bertram JEA, Clayton HM. An exploration of the influence of diagonal dissociation and moderate changes in speed on locomotor parameters in trotting horses. PeerJ 2016;4:1–22. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2190.
- [84] Tokuriki M, Aoki O. Electromyographic activity of the hindlimb muscles during the walk, trot and canter. Equine Vet J 1995;27:152–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2042-3306.1995.TB04909.X.
- [85] Kienapfel K, Preuschoft H, Wulf A, Wagner H. The biomechanical construction of the horse's body and activity patterns of three important muscles of the trunk in the walk, trot and canter. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl) 2018;102:e818–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/JPN.12840.
- [86] Tan H, Wilson AM. Grip and limb force limits to turning performance in competition horses. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 2011;278:2105–11. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2010.2395.

- [87] Davies HMS. The effects of different exercise conditions on metacarpal bone strains in Thoroughbred racehorses. Pferdeheilkunde 1996;12:666–70. https://doi.org/10.21836/pem19960466.
- [88] Mackechnie-Guire R, Pfau T. Differential rotational movement of the thoracolumbosacral spine in high-level dressage horses ridden in a straight line, in sitting trot and seated canter compared to in-hand trot. Animals 2021;11:1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11030888.
- [89] Weishaupt MA, Wiestner T, von Peinen K, Waldern N, Roepstorff L, Van Weeren R, et al. Effect of head and neck position on vertical ground reaction forces and interlimb coordination in the dressage horse ridden at walk and trot on a treadmill. Equine Vet J 2006;38:387–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2042-3306.2006.TB05574.X.
- [90] Robling AG, Daly R, Fuchs RK, Burr DB. Mechanical Adaptation. Basic Appl. Bone Biol., Elsevier; 2019, p. 203–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-813259-3.00011-7.
- [91] Logan AA, Nielsen BD, Robison CI, Hallock DB, Manfredi JM, Hiney KM, et al. Impact of gait and diameter during circular exercise on front hoof area, vertical force, and pressure in mature horses. Animals 2021;11:3581. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11123581.
- [92] Logan AA, Nielsen BD, Sehl R, Jones E, Robison CI, Pease AP. Short-term stall housing of horses results in changes of markers of bone metabolism. Comp Exerc Physiol 2019:1– 8. https://doi.org/10.3920/cep190038.
- [93] Nicholson AM, Trumble TN, Merritt KA, Brown MP. Associations of horse age, joint type, and osteochondral injury with serum and synovial fluid concentrations of type II collagen biomarkers in Thoroughbreds. Am J Vet Res 2010;71:741–9. https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.71.7.741.
- [94] Frisbie DD, Al-Sobayil F, Billinghurst RC, Kawcak CE, McIlwraith CW. Changes in synovial fluid and serum biomarkers with exercise and early osteoarthritis in horses. Osteoarthr Cartil 2008;16:1196–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOCA.2008.03.008.
- [95] Van Den Boom R, Van De Lest CHA, Bull S, Brama PAJ, Van Weeren PR, Barneveld A. Influence of repeated arthrocentesis and exercise on synovial fluid concentrations of nitric oxide, prostaglandin E2 and glycosaminoglycans in healthy equine joints. Equine Vet J 2005;37:250–6. https://doi.org/10.2746/0425164054530740.
- [96] Abramson SB. Osteoarthritis and nitric oxide. Osteoarthr Cartil 2008;16:S15–20.
- [97] Brama PAAJ, Tekoppele JM, Bank RA, Barneveld A, Van Weeren PR. Development of biochemical heterogeneity of articular cartilage: Influences of age and exercise. Equine Vet J 2002;34:265–9. https://doi.org/10.2746/042516402776186146.

- [98] Logan AA, Nielsen BD, Manfredi JM, Robison CI. Sprint Exercise of Juvenile Animals Does Not Impact Cartilage Glycosaminoglycan or Synovial Fluid Neopeptide Collagenase Cleavage of Type I and II Collagen Content. J Equine Vet Sci 2021;101:103405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2021.103405.
- [99] ASABE. Shear and three-point bending test of animal bone 2021;59.
- [100] Robison CI, Karcher DM. Analytical bone calcium and bone ash from mature laying hens correlates to bone mineral content calculated from quantitative computed tomography scans. Poult Sci 2019;98:3611–6. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pez165.
- [101] O'Connor-Robison CI, Spencer JD, Orth MW. The impact of dietary long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids on bone and cartilage in gilts and sows. J Anim Sci 2014;92:4607–15. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2013-7028.
- [102] Sun J, Zhang X, Broderick M, Fein H. Measurement of nitric oxide production in biological systems by using griess reaction assay. Sensors 2003;3:276–84. https://doi.org/10.3390/s30800276.
- [103] Chandrasekhar S, Esterman MA, Hoffman HA. Microdetermination of proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans in the presence of guanidine hydrochloride. Anal Biochem 1987;161:103–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(87)90658-0.
- [104] Spooner HS, Nielsen BD, Woodward AD, Rosenstein DS, Harris PA. Endurance Training Has Little Impact on Mineral Content of the Third Metacarpus in Two-Year-Old Arabian Horses. J Equine Vet Sci 2008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2008.04.012.
- [105] Rogers CW, Dittmer KE. Does Juvenile Play Programme the Equine Musculoskeletal System? Animals 2019;9:646. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9090646.
- [106] Gómez Álvarez CB, Rhodin M, Byström A, Back W, van Weeren PR. Back kinematics of healthy trotting horses during treadmill versus over ground locomotion. Equine Vet J 2009;41:297–300. https://doi.org/10.2746/042516409X397370.
- [107] Wimalawansa SJ. Nitric oxide and bone. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., vol. 1192, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2010, p. 391–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05230.x.
- [108] Spiller F, Oliveira Formiga R, Fernandes da Silva Coimbra J, Alves-Filho JC, Cunha TM, Cunha FQ. Targeting nitric oxide as a key modulator of sepsis, arthritis and pain. Nitric Oxide 2019;89:32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NIOX.2019.04.011.
- [109] Trumble TN, Billinghurts CM, McIlwraith CW. Correlation of prostaglandin E2

concentrations in synovial fluid with ground reaction forces and clinical variables for pain or inflammation in dogs with osteoarthritis induced by transection of the cranial cruciate ligament. Am J Vet Res 2004;65:1269–75.

- [110] Kadic DTN, Miagkoff L, Bonilla AG. Needle arthroscopy of the radiocarpal and middle carpal joints in standing sedated horses. Vet Surg 2020;49:894–904. https://doi.org/10.1111/VSU.13430.
- [111] Van De Lest CHA, Brama PAJ, Van René Weeren P. The influence of exercise on the composition of developing equine joints. Biorheology 2002;39:183–91.
- [112] Lee AJ, Hodges S, Eastell R. Measurement of osteocalcin. Ann Clin Biochem 2000;37:432–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/000456320003700402.
- [113] Impellizzeri FM, Marcora SM, Coutts AJ. Internal and External Training Load: 15 Years On. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2019;14:270–3. https://doi.org/10.1123/IJSPP.2018-0935.